
City of Capitola Agenda
Mayor: Ed Bottorff
Vice Mayor: Stephanie Harlan
Council Members: Jacques Bertrand

Dennis Norton
Michael Termini

Treasurer: Christine McBroom

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETING

THURSDAY, AUGUST 25, 2016

7:00 PM

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS
420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA, CA  95010

CLOSED SESSION - 6:30 PM
CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE

An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in 
the City Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.  Members of the public may, at 
this time, address the City Council on closed session items only.  There will be a report of 
any final decisions in City Council Chambers during the Open Session Meeting.

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 
[Govt. Code §54956.9]
(One case)

Water Rock Construction, Inc. v. City of Capitola 
[Arbitration Claim]

LIABILITY CLAIM [Govt. Code §54956.95]
Claimant:  Roderick O'Neil Whitley
Agency claimed against:  City of Capitola



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
August 25, 2016

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 8/19/2016 12:27 PM

     REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL - 7:00 PM
All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item.

All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings.

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Council Members Dennis Norton, Stephanie Harlan, Jacques Bertrand, Michael Termini and 
Mayor Ed Bottorff

2. PRESENTATIONS

A. Introduction of Chris Macias, Maintenance Worker I 

B. Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation 

C. Presentation by Maggie Ivy, Chief Executive Officer of Visit Santa Cruz County 

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION

4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet.

5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS
Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on 
any item not on the Agenda.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   
Individuals may not speak more than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must 
address the entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All 
speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so 
that their name may be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is 
set aside for Oral Communications at this time.

7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS
City Council Members/City Treasurer/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or 
identify issues for staff response or future council consideration.

8. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS

A. Consider an Appointment to the City's Traffic and Parking Commission 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider an appointment to fill a vacancy for Mayor 
Bottorff’s appointee.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
August 25, 2016

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 8/19/2016 12:27 PM

9. CONSENT CALENDAR
All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed 
below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council 
votes on the action unless members of the public or the City Council request specific items 
to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered 
following General Government.

Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have 
been read by title and further reading waived.

A. Consider the July 28, 2016, Regular City Council Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Minutes.

B. Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular Meeting of August 4, 
2016 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive Minutes.

C. Approval of City Check Registers dated July 1, July 8, July 15, July 22 and July 29, 
2016 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Check Register Reports.

D. Deny Liability Claim of Roderick O'Neil Whitley in the Amount of $10,000 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Deny liability claim.

E. Consider a Resolution Authorizing the City to Enter into a Joint Powers Agreement 
with California Municipal Finance Authority Joint Power 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Execute the Joint Powers Agreement of the California 
Municipal Finance Authority (CMFA) and adopt a Resolution in favor of the issuance 
of the Bonds by the CMFA for the benefit of Goodwill Central Coast.

10. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council 
deliberation; 5) Decision.

A. Consider authorizing a City Council Response to the 2015-2016 Santa Cruz County 
Grand Jury Report titled, "Capitola Police Department’s Citizen Complaint 
Procedures: Nothing to Complain About" 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept the recommendations by the Santa Cruz County 
Civil Grand Jury and direct the City Clerk to send the completed response packet per 
California Penal Code §933.05.

B. Consider Applications for the Community Grants and Recommendations of the 
Community Grants Ad-Hoc Subcommittee 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider the recommendations of the Community 
Grants Ad-Hoc Subcommittee and determine grant award amounts for Fiscal Years 
2016/17 and 2017/18.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
August 25, 2016

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 8/19/2016 12:27 PM

C. Introduction of an Ordinance Amending Title 8 of the Capitola Municipal Code by 
adding Chapter 8.40 Pertaining to Extended Producer Responsibility for the 
Responsible and Safe Collection of Unwanted Pharmaceuticals and Spent 
Hypodermic Needles (Sharps) 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Introduce an Ordinance.

11. ADJOURNMENT

Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court.

Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola.

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org  and at Capitola City Hall and at 
the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, prior to the meeting. Agendas are also 
available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, Capitola. Need more information? 
Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300.

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours.

Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24-hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products.

Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting Video.” 
Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at anytime.

http://www.cityofcapitola.org
http://www.cityofcapitola.org


CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Introduction of Chris Macias, Maintenance Worker I 

DISCUSSION: The City has a new Maintenance Worker I, Chris Macias. He will be introduced 
at the August 25, 2016, City Council Meeting.

Report Prepared By:  Susan Sneddon
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

2.A

Packet Pg. 5



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation 

DISCUSSION: While a cancer diagnosis in a child is one of the most devastating a family faces, 
our community is fortunate to be home to a nationally recognized support organization, Jacob's 
Heart Children's Cancer Support Services. In honor of its work, the City of Capitola declares the 
month of September 2016 as Childhood Cancer Awareness month. We honor the memory of 
the children lost to this disease and celebrate the continued improvement in five-year survival 
rates, which today are more than 80 percent compared to just 58 percent in the 1970s.

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation

Report Prepared By:  Susan Sneddon
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

2.B

Packet Pg. 6



'?61
'(.,,J

*
@m
>Thy
4*

-ffi-:a
e?
>D?
(!:a xP<

8
3(p
?Z

!Q?
'?4

U

r

! 'Q

iU

i'?
>p4
4y

%%
?
r

???=35Q
ff9')'I

$:HM
4g

€.

i

'CJMfl
l
C??
I>'m??
C x<
?&i#Ll

in,ffiT,!g:dW9
A'!'%'Jh

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ed Bottorff Mayor of Capitola, do hereby declare

'( ?:.:w.r:"'.11 A
9'

ff

?ah:E-a;.a::.a-Exai:=:a-.;.a.:.-a=Eia.:fQa,;.=.Q,.;
?'M:iQ.l*r.z '-:..l ' :,;-'-l.'j:J*l.l?

3Q

?(2<

',cd,o l

?a<
b? .2)T'SLo/Th'?y@4
M&2
mm ;J
ffl !
Jk ??
??(<l
?< ;J

l
uJ

231,a!'!iP!
?'? 9
-a<?a<
!)vt :h

eaffi:
'12;A'? ">
'utJ

kd!l
[%!)P€
Bk '?
??(I<
?t >
[id!l

!Bk *
?t '>
'.<d!d,.
fl%J"
?7
?(W<*n

41
?!aq ?J
??g<
'?c ;3

DC:!
?(i<

hachQm

City of Capitola
Mayor's Proclamation

Honoring Jacob's Heart Children's Cancer Support Services and
Proclaiming September 2016 as Childhood Cancer Awareness Month

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola strives to help our children enjoy long, happy,
and healthy lives; and

WHEREAS, each day 42 children in the United States are diagnosed with cancer
and more than 40, 000 children undergo treatment for cancer each year; and

:8
WHEREAS, in spite of continued improvement in five-year survival rates for

childhood cancer, it remains the leading cause of death by disease among children, more
than asthma, diabetes, cystic fibrosis, congemtal anomalies, arxdA]DS combined; and

WHEREAS, families of children with cancer in the City of Capitola receive
essential services from Jacob's Heart Children's Cancer Support Services, a local
organization that has beerx honored with national awards and recognition for improving
the quality of life for more than 620 local children with cancer and their families; and

WHEREAS, Jacob's Heart helps preserve the memories and honor the legacies of
140 children from our local community who have been lost to cancer; arid

WHEREAS, the oncology department at Lucile Packard Children's Hospital at
Stanford has worked closely with Jacob's Heart for the past 18 years as a trusted
community partner in providing family-centered care that addresses the emotional,
practical andfinancial struggles offamilies of children with cancer tri Capitola; and

WHEREAS, it is importarxt for all Capitola residents to recogrtize the impact of
pediatric cancer on families within our commuriity and honor the lives of children in our
community whose lives have been cut short by cancer; and

Q'S
*

2.B
.1

P
acket P

g
. 7

Attachment: Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation  (1523 : Childhood Cancer Awareness



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Presentation by Maggie Ivy, Chief Executive Officer of Visit Santa Cruz County 

DISCUSSION: Maggie Ivy, Chief Executive Officer of Visit Santa Cruz County (formerly known 
as the Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council (CVC)), will provide a brief update 
on topics such as the health of the tourism industry, hotel occupancy, and the latest promotional 
efforts.

Report Prepared By:  Susan Sneddon
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

2.C

Packet Pg. 8



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider an Appointment to the City's Traffic and Parking Commission 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider an appointment to fill a vacancy for Mayor Bottorff’s 
appointee.

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: Currently there is a vacancy for Mayor Bottorff’s appointee on 
the Traffic and Parking Commission. The term for this appointment ends in December 2016. 
Staff conducted recruitment for this vacancy beginning July 18, 2016 with the closing date of 
Friday, August 12, 2016 (Attachment 1). To date, two applications were received from Ron 
Skelton and Thom Douglas (Attachment 2).

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Recruitment Notice
2. Applications
3. Traffic & Parking Commission Current Roster

Report Prepared By:  Susan Sneddon
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.A

Packet Pg. 9



 

 
 

APPLICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT TO: 
 

Capitola Traffic & Parking Commission 
 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that there remains a vacancy for one (1) seat on 
the Capitola Traffic & Parking Commission for a term that will expire in December 2016.  

 
(1) At-Large Council Member Appointees 

 
The City Council is seeking applications from persons who are interested in 

participating in the development of short, medium, and long-term plans that address 
traffic and parking demands in Capitola Village by considering citywide traffic and 
parking improvements for consideration by the City Council. Regular meetings of the 
commission are held on the second Wednesday of every other month at 6:30 p.m., in 
the Community Room at Capitola City Hall. Specific questions regarding the 
commission may be directed to the City’s staff representative, Steven Jesberg, Public 
Works Director, at 475-7300, Ext. 217, or by email at sjesberg@ci.capitola.ca.us.  

 
 Upon review of applications received, it is anticipated that the Mayor and the City 
Council will make appointments at a Regular Meeting of the City Council. 
  

Application Deadline:  Friday, August 12, 2016 
 
 Applications may be obtained at Capitola City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, or by 
calling (831) 475-7300 and requesting an application be sent to you. In addition, a 
notice with an application form is available on the City’s website (for printing) at 
www.cityofcapitola.org by selecting City Government / Boards & Commissions/ 
Commissions / Traffic and Parking Commission and click on "Recruitment Notice and 
Application." 
  

I, Susan Sneddon, City Clerk of the City of Capitola, California, hereby certify that 
the above Notice was posted on July 18, 2016. 
 
 
Dated: July 18, 2016       Susan Sneddon 

         City Clerk 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA  95010 

(831) 475-7300 
FAX (831) 479-8879 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ec
ru

it
m

en
t 

N
o

ti
ce

  (
15

69
 :

 T
ra

ff
ic

 &
 P

ar
ki

n
g

 A
p

p
o

in
tm

en
t)



8.A.2

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
 (

15
69

 :
 T

ra
ff

ic
 &

 P
ar

ki
n

g
 A

p
p

o
in

tm
en

t)



8.A.2

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
 (

15
69

 :
 T

ra
ff

ic
 &

 P
ar

ki
n

g
 A

p
p

o
in

tm
en

t)



8.A.2

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
 (

15
69

 :
 T

ra
ff

ic
 &

 P
ar

ki
n

g
 A

p
p

o
in

tm
en

t)



8.A.2

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
 (

15
69

 :
 T

ra
ff

ic
 &

 P
ar

ki
n

g
 A

p
p

o
in

tm
en

t)



 

 

CAPITOLA TRAFFIC & PARKING COMMISSION 
CURRENT MEMBERS (2 YEAR TERMS) 

 
NAME 

 
APPOINTEE 

ADDRESS & PHONE NUMBER 
& EMAIL 

 
DATE 
APPOINTED 

 
TERM 
EXPIRES 

Margaret Kinstler Village Resident 
 

mmkinstler@aol.com 
 

5/14/09 
12/9/10 
1/10/13 
1/8/15 
 

12/31/16 

 

James Steven Ross Village Resident 
 

eagledog41@yahoo.com 2/14/13 
1/8/15 

12/31/16 

 

Carin Hanna Village Business Owner carinhanna@aol.com 
 
 

5/14/09 
12/9/10  
1/10/13  
1/8/15 
 

12/31/16 

Willie Case Village Business Owner williecase@aol.com 
 

10/22/15 12/31/16 

Ron Graves Harlan Appointee fishsweetheart@netzero.com 
 

5/14/15 12/31/16 

 

 

City of Capitola 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA  95010 

Phone (831) 475-7300 
FAX (831) 479-8879 

8.A
.3

P
acket P

g
. 15

Attachment: Traffic & Parking Commission Current Roster  (1569 : Traffic & Parking Appointment)



TRAFFIC & PARKING COMMISSION − CURRENT MEMBERS          
 

 
NAME 

 
APPOINTEE 

ADDRESS & PHONE NUMBER 
& EMAIL 

 
DATE 
APPOINTED 

 
TERM 
EXPIRES 

Molly Ording Bertrand Appointee mollyording@yahoo.com 
 
 

5/14/09 
12/09/10  
1/10/13  
1/8/15 
 
 

12/31/16 

Ron Burke Norton Appointee rburke477@gmail.com 
 

1/8/15 
 

12/31/16 

Vacancy Bottorff Appointee    

Nels Westman Termini Appointee nels@bestwestman.com 
 

5/14/09 
12/9/10  
1/10/13  
1/8/15 
 
 

12/31/16 

 

TJ Welch 
 

Planning Commission 
Representative 

noworries4TJ@mac.com 
 
 

5/7/15 
 

12/31/16 

 
Staff Representative:   
Steve Jesberg, Public Works Director 
831-475-7300 ext. 217 
sjesberg@ci.capitola.ca.us 
 

 

 
 
Revised: 07/18/16 ss 
 

8.A
.3

P
acket P

g
. 16

Attachment: Traffic & Parking Commission Current Roster  (1569 : Traffic & Parking Appointment)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider the July 28, 2016, Regular City Council Minutes 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Minutes.

DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes of the subject 
meeting.

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. July 28, 2016, Regular City Council Draft Minutes

Report Prepared By:  Susan Sneddon
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.A

Packet Pg. 17



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETING ACTION MINUTES

THURSDAY, JULY 28, 2016

CLOSED SESSION – 6:00 PM
CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE

Mayor Bottorff called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. He announced the item to be discussed 
in Closed Session, as follows:

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54957.6] 
Negotiator: Jamie Goldstein, City Manager 
Employee Organizations: 

1. Association of Capitola Employees
2. Capitola Police Captains
3. Capitola Police Officers Association
4. Confidential Employees
5. Mid-Management Group
6. Department Heads

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54956.8]
Property: 2091 Wharf Road, APN 034-241-05, Capitola, CA
City Negotiator: Jamie Goldstein, City Manager
Negotiating Parties: Joseph K. and Debbie A. Genge
Under Negotiation: Terms for potential purchase of property by City

LIABILITY CLAIM [Govt. Code §54956.95]
Claimant:  Chad Geraci
Agency claimed against:  City of Capitola

Mayor Bottorff noted that there was no one in the audience; therefore, the City Council recessed 
at 6:00 p.m. to the Closed Session

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL COUNCIL – 7:00 PM

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Councilmember Dennis Norton: Present, Mayor Ed Bottorff: Present, Council Member 
Jacques Bertrand: Present, Vice Mayor Stephanie Harlan: Present, Council Member 
Michael Termini: Present.

City Treasurer McBroom was absent.

2. PRESENTATIONS

A. Introduction of Susan Nemitz, Santa Cruz Public Library Director [230-10]
Ms. Nemitz was introduced.

B. Presentation Regarding the Human Care Alliance [330-30]
Shauna Mora, HCA Member (Conflict Resolution Center) and Gary Edwards, HCA 
Member (Advocacy, Inc.) provided the presentation.

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
City Attorney Condotti stated that the Council discussed conference with the City’s labor 
negotiator (City Manager Goldstein) regarding the following employee organizations: (1) 
Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Capitola Police Captains; (3) Capitola Police Officers 
Association; (4) Confidential Employees; (5) Mid-Management Group; and (6) Department 
Heads; there was no reportable action. Mr. Condotti stated that the Council discussed with 
the City’s real property negotiator (City Manager Goldstein) regarding property located at 
2091 Wharf Road, Capitola (APN 034-241-05); there was no reportable action. In addition, 
the Council discussed the Chad Geraci tort claim which is listed on the Council’s regular 
meeting Consent Calendar this evening. 

4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
Deputy City Clerk Nichols stated that one additional material was received from Public 
Works Director Jesberg regarding Item 9.G.

5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS
Marylin Garrett, local resident, stated concerns regarding the telecommunications industry.
Deanna Zachary, Arts Council of Santa Cruz County representative, requested that the 
Council consider the Arts Council’s application for the City’s Community Grants.
Barri Boone, In-Home Supportive Services Public Agency (IHSS) representative, spoke 
regarding the living wage for IHSS home care workers. She also stated concerns regarding 
health risks related to wireless telecommunications antennas. 
Gordon Cumming, Grey Bears Board Member, thanked the City Council for supporting Grey 
Bears.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS
Council Member Termini stated that the Capitola Begonia Festival’s annual fundraiser will be 
held on Sunday, July 31st from 1:30 – 4:00 p.m. at Michael's on Main in Soquel. 

Council Member Harlan stated that the Children of the World sculpture that was created by 
Luis Villarreal which was donated to the City in 1980 is being presented to the City of 
Rosarito, Baja California, Mexico.

Mayor Bottorff stated that the July 23rd Wharf to Wharf race was a success.

7. CONSENT CALENDAR
Council Member Harlan requested that Item 8.I. be pulled for discussion.

RESULT: ADOPTED ITEMS 6.A, 6.B., 6.C., 6.D., 6.E., 6.F., 6.G., 6.H., and 6.J. 
[UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Dennis Norton, Council Member
SECONDER: Stephanie Harlan, Vice Mayor
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan, Termini

A. Consider the May 18, 2016, and June 16, 2016, City Council/Successor Agency 
Budget Study Session Minutes; and the June 23, 2016, Regular City Council Minutes
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Minutes.

B. Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular Meeting of July 21, 
2016
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive Minutes.

C. Approval of City Check Registers dated June 3, June 10, June 17 and June 24, 
2016[300-10]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Check Register Reports.

D. Deny Liability Claim of Chad Geraci for an Undetermined Amount [Claims Binder]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Deny liability claim.

E. Authorize the City to Surplus Two City Vehicles and One Motorcycle [370-10]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the following:
1. Authorize the Public Works Department to surplus the following vehicles:

 Marked police vehicle, fleet number 082 (2008 Ford Crown Victoria VIN# 
2FAFP71V48X139317), that is scheduled to come off line this fiscal year; 
and

 GEM Electric Vehicle (VIN# 5ASAK27412F023950 License # B35240) 
which is no longer operational.

2. Authorize sale of the 2002 Suzuki 400 motorcycle (VIN# J515K43A300101985) 
to the University of California Santa Cruz, Police Department in the amount of 
$2,000.00.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

F. Approval of the Rosedale Paving Project Notice of Completion [940-40/500-10 A/C: 
Monterey Pennisula Engineering]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve and accept the Rosedale Area Paving Project 
as constructed by the Monterey Peninsula Engineering as complete at a final cost of 
$267,412; and authorize the Public Works Department to release the contract 
retention of $13,370.60 in 35 days following the recordation of the Notice of 
Completion.

G. Rescind Previously Awarded Contract for Repairs to the Jade Street Tennis Courts 
and Approve Plans, Specifications, and Estimate for Advertising for Bids [1040-20]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Take the following actions:
1. Rescind a contract awarded to Vintage Contractors on June 23, 2016, for repairs 

to the Jade Street Tennis Courts; and
2. Approve plans, specifications, and estimate for advertising for bids for the 

selected repair alternative of the Plexipave Slipsheet overlay.

H. Consider a Contract with Carolyn Flynn for Professional Services Related to 
Affordable Housing, Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Administration, 
and Grant Writing [500-10 A/C: Flynn, Carolyn]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to execute a contract with 
Carolyn Flynn in an amount not to exceed $52,000.

I. Approve Agreement with Bogard Construction as the Project Manager for the 
Construction of Capitola Branch Library for an Initial Amount of $21,600 [230-10/500-
10 A/C: Bogard Construction]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Award contract.

J. Fiscal Year 2015/16 Budget Adjustments [330-10]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Budget Adjustments.

Item 8.I. was pulled from the Consent Calendar for discussion:

I. Approve Agreement with Bogard Construction as the Project Manager for the 
Construction of Capitola Branch Library for an Initial Amount of $21,600 [230-10/500-
10 A/C: Bogard Construction]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Award contract.

RESULT: ITEM 6.I.: APPROVED AN AGREEMENT WITH BOGARD 
CONSTRUCTION AS THE PROJECT MANAGER FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF CAPITOLA BRANCH LIBRARY FOR AN INITIAL 
AMOUNT OF $21,600 

MOVER: Stephanie Harlan, Vice Mayor
SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Mayor
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan
ABSTAIN: Michael Termini

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS

A. Recruitment Process for Chief of Police, and Designation of City Council Members to 
Serve on the Interview Panel [650-05/500-100 A/C: Bob Murray & Associates]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve recruitment process for Chief of Police, and 
designate two City Council Members to serve on the interview panel.

RESULT: APPOINTED COUNCIL MEMBER TERMINI TO SERVE ON THE 
POLICE CHIEF INTERVIEW PANEL WITH THE FOLLOWING ROLL 
CALL VOTE:

MOVER: Dennis Norton, Council Member 
SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Mayor
AYES: Dennis Norton, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini
NAYS: Jacques Bertrand, Stephanie Harlan

Marylin Garrett suggested that the public be involved in the selection of the City’s 
Police Chief.
Council Member Termini made a motion with a second from Mayor Bottorff to 
appoint Council Member Harlan to be on the interview panel. Council Member 
Termini withdrew his motion because Council Member Harlan stated that she will 
defer the appointment to Council Member Bertrand. Mayor Bottorff withdraw his 
second motion.

RESULT: APPOINTED COUNCIL MEMBER BERTRAND TO SERVE ON THE 
POLICE CHIEF INTERVIEW PANEL WITH THE FOLLOWING ROLL 
CALL VOTE [UNANIMOUS]:

MOVER: Michael Termini, Council Member 
SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Mayor
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan, Termini

B. Consider a Resolution Establishing November 8, 2016, as the Date for a Municipal 
Election on a Proposed Ballot Measure Seeking Voter Authorization to Extend the 
Sunset Date on an Existing One-Quarter Cent (0.25%) Transactions and Use 
(“Sales”) Tax; and the Introduction of an Ordinance Amending Section 16 of 
Ordinance 880, as Amended by Ordinance No. 935 Pertaining to the City's 
Transactions and Use Tax Administered by the State Board of Equalization[560-10]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff recommends the City Council take the following 
actions:

1. Adopt the draft Resolution to (a) identify the City Council intentions for the 
proposed measure; (b) approve the proposed measure language; (c) request 
consolidation and County Elections to conduct the election; and

2. Introduce an Ordinance amending Section 16 of Ordinance No. 880, as amended 
by Ordinance No. 935, pertaining to the City’s Transactions and Use Tax 
administered by the State Board of Equalization; and

3. Appoint a City Council subcommittee to prepare an argument and rebuttal in 
support of the ballot measure and return to the full City Council with a draft 
argument at a Special Meeting on August 11.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

Nathan Cross, Finance Advisory Committee (FAC) representative, provided the FAC’s 
recommendation for the proposed ballot measure.
Carin Hanna, Capitola Village & Wharf Business Improvement Area Advisory Committee 
representative, provided support to the proposed ballot measure.

RESULT: (I) APPROVED RESOLUTION NO. 4057 [A] IDENTIFYING THE 
CITY COUNCIL INTENTIONS FOR THE PROPOSED MEASURE; 
[B] APPROVE THE PROPOSED MEASURE LANGUAGE; AND [C] 
REQUEST CONSOLIDATION AND COUNTY ELECTIONS TO 
CONDUCT THE ELECTION; (II) THE INTRODUCTION OF AN 
ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 16 OF ORDINANCE NO. 880, 
AS AMENDED BY ORDINANCE NO. 935, PERTAINING TO THE 
CITY’S TRANSACTIONS AND USE TAX ADMINISTERED BY THE 
STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION; AND (III) APPOINTED 
COUNCIL MEMBERS NORTON AND HARLAN TO A CITY 
COUNCIL SUBCOMMITTEE TO PREPARE ARGUMENTS AND 
REBUTTALS IN SUPPORT OF THE BALLOT MEASURE AND 
RETURN TO THE FULL CITY COUNCIL WITH A DRAFT 
ARGUMENT AT A SPECIAL MEETING ON AUGUST 11, 2016; 
[UNANIMOUS]:

MOVER: Michael Termini, Council Member 
SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Mayor
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan, Termini

Mayor Bottorff stated that Item 10.D. was discussed prior to Item 10.C.

D. Santa Cruz County Mosquito Abatement / Vector Control Presentation [460-10]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive presentation regarding the Local Invasive 
Aedes Mosquito and Arbovirus Surveillance and Response Plan.
Paul Binding, Santa Cruz County Mosquito Abatement / Vector Control Manager and 
Amanda Paulsen, Santa Cruz County Vector Ecologist, provided the presentation.

C. OpenGov Financial Transparency Presentation [330-70/380-20]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive presentation and provide direction.
Rebecca Rosengarten and Sebastian Cabrera, OpenGov representatives provided 
the presentation. 

The City Council took a five-minute break.

E. Zoning Code Update Progress Report [730-85]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept staff presentation and set special hearing 
schedule.

The following dates for the Special City Council Meetings regarding the Zoning Code 
Update were approved by the City Council:

 Thursday, August 11, 2016, at 6:00 p.m.
 Thursday, August 18, 2016, at 7:00 p.m.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
July 28, 2016

 Thursday, September 15, 2016 at 6:00 p.m.
 Thursday, September 29, 2016 at 6:00 p.m, (if needed)

F. Designation of Voting Delegate and Alternate for the 2016 League of California Cities 
Annual Conference to be held in Long Beach October 5 through October 7, 
2016[150-50]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Designate Capitola’s Voting Delegates.

RESULT: APPOINTED COUNCIL MEMBER HARLAN TO BE THE VOTING 
DELEGATE FOR THE 2016 LEAGUE OF CALIFORNIA CITIES 
ANNUAL CONFERENCE AND COUNCIL MEMBER BERTRAND TO 
SERVE AS THE ALTERNATE VOTING DELEGATE [UNANIMOUS]:

MOVER: Michael Termini, Council Member 
SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Council Member 
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan, Termini

G. Consider Awarding a Contract for the 2016 Road Rehabilitation Project [940-40]
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report on the bids for the 2016 Road 
Rehabilitation Project and award a contract to the lowest responsible bidder; and 
take any related actions necessary to proceed with the project as recommended by 
the Public Works Department.

RESULT: APPROVE A CONTRACT TO GRANITE ROCK COMPANY FOR 
THE 2016 ROAD REHABILITATION PROJECT WITH A BID IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,343,067.60 [UNANIMOUS]:

MOVER: Michael Termini, Council Member 
SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Council Member 
AYES: Norton, Bottorff, Bertrand, Harlan, Termini

10. ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was closed at 10:00 p.m.

__________________
Ed Bottorff, Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________
Liz Nichols, Deputy City Clerk

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
8,

 2
01

6,
 R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
13

09
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: Community Development

SUBJECT: Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular Meeting of August 
4, 2016 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive Minutes

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Planning Commission Action Minutes August 4, 2016

Report Prepared By:  Linda Fridy
Planning Commission Minutes Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.B

Packet Pg. 25



City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 8/5/2016 8:17 AM  

ACTION MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 4, 2016 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Linda Smith: Present, Commissioner Gayle Ortiz: Present, Commissioner Edward 
Newman: Present, Chairperson TJ Welch: Present, Commissioner Susan Westman: Present. 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. 211 Esplanade #16-122 035-211-03 
Design Permit application to re-face the top of building fascia and a Sign Permit application 
for a wall sign at 211 Esplanade (The Sand Bar), located in the CV (Central Village) Zoning 
District.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but is exempt from a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Chuck Hammers 
Representative: Shawn Adams – Monterey Signs, filed: 6/14/16 
 
Motion: Approve a Design Permit and Sign Permit 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Gayle Ortiz, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman 

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. 190 El Camino Medio #16-107 035-262-01 
Conditional Use Permit application to conduct an owner-occupied Bed and Breakfast at the 
existing residence and variance request to parking standards, located in the AR/R-1 
(Automatic Review / Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted 
through the city. 
Environmental Determination: Statutory Exemption 
Property Owner: Gordon Hunt 
Representative: Kathleen Notch, filed: 5/24/16  
 
Motion: Deny the Conditional Use Permit and Variance 
 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

A
u

g
u

st
 4

, 2
01

6 
 (

15
18

 :
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

8/
4/

16
)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – August 4, 2016 2 
 

RESULT: DENIED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman 

 
B. Verizon Wireless Communication Facility at 4400 Capitola Road #15-156 034-

111-53 
Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the installation of a new Verizon wireless 
antenna and ancillary equipment on the roof of an existing commercial building in the PO 
(Professional Office) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
not appealable to the California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lomak Property Group  
Representative: Verizon Wireless – Nexius, filed 9/29/15 
 
Motion: Approve a Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit 
 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [4 TO 0] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Welch, Westman 

RECUSED: Newman 

 
C. 419 Capitola Avenue #16-101 APN: 035-131-26 

Design Permit and Variance for front and side yard setbacks for a three story duplex 
located in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted 
through the city.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owners: Daniel Gomez and Daniel Townsend, filed 5/16/2016 
Representative: Daniel Gomez and Daniel Townsend 
 
Motion: Approve a Design Permit and Variance 
 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [3 TO 0] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Gayle Ortiz, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman 

RECUSED: Welch, Westman 

 
D. 2205 Wharf Road #16-041 APN: 034-141-34 

Minor land division to create two lots of record, design permit for a new Single-Family 
Residence, and a tree removal permit for the property located at 2205 Wharf Road in the 
RM-LM (Residential Multi-Family – Low-Medium Density) Zoning District.   
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

A
u

g
u

st
 4

, 2
01

6 
 (

15
18

 :
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

8/
4/

16
)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – August 4, 2016 3 
 

Property Owner: Christopher Wright 
Representative: Dennis Norton, filed: 3/14/16 
 
Motion: Continue the hearing to the next regular meeting 
 

RESULT: CONTINUED [UNANIMOUS] Next: 9/1/2016 7:00 PM 

MOVER: Gayle Ortiz, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman 

5. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

6. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

7. ADJOURNMENT 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

A
u

g
u

st
 4

, 2
01

6 
 (

15
18

 :
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

8/
4/

16
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: Finance Department

SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers dated July 1, July 8, July 15, July 22 and July 
29, 2016 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Check Register Reports.

BACKGROUND: Check registers are attached for:

Account: City Main
Date Starting Check # Ending Check # Check/EFT Count Amount

7/01/2016 83949 84042 102 $894,320.42
7/08/2016 84043 84101 59 $165,131.90
7/15/2016 84102 84179 86 $1,791,778.16
7/22/2016 84180 84232 53 $81,048.23
7/29/2016 84233 84300 75 $360,055.36

The check register of June 24, 2016, ended with check #83948.  

Account: Payroll
Date Starting Check # Ending Check # Check/EFT Count Amount

7/08/2016 4884 4904 132 $181,506.66
7/22/2016 4905 4927 133 $183,196.77

Following is a list of checks issued for more than $10,000.00 and a brief description of each expenditure:

Check Issued to Dept. Description Amount
83995 Wells Fargo Bank FN POB principal and interest $647,712.75
eft287 CalPERS Member Services FN PERS contributions PPE 6-18-16 $46,630.14
eft289 IRS FN Federal taxes & Medicare 6-18-16 $28,775.77
eft291 CalPERS Health FN July health insurance $57,255.26
eft292 Wells Fargo Bank FN May credit card charges $17,184.26

84071 Santa Cruz County Planning 
Dept. CM Homeless action partnership $25,549.00

84076 US Bank PW Facility lease - Pac Cove $75,590.61
84107 Atchison Barisone Condotti & CM June legal services $19,898.97

9.C

Packet Pg. 29



Approval of City Check Registers 
August 25, 2016

Kovacevich
84143 MBASIA CM Insurance premiums FY16/17 $294,200.20
84145 Monterey Peninsula Engineering PW Rosedale area paving project $254,041.40
84153 SCC Auditor Controller PD June citation processing $14,416.50

84154 SCC Conference and Visitors 
Council FN Quarterly tourism marketing 

assessment $53,288.24

84159 Santa Cruz Regional 911 PD Quarterly 911 dispatch services $142,846.55

84162 Soquel Creek Water District PW June water usage and irrigation 
fees $11,537.85

eft294 CalPERS Member Services FN PERS contributions PPE 7-02-16 $48,173.04
eft296 Internal Revenue Services FN Federal taxes & Medicare 7-02-16 $29,005.91
eft299 CalPERS Fiscal Services FN PERS UAL FY16/17 prepayment $806,907.00
84195 Folsom Ford PD 2016 Ford Explorer $32,634.71
84206 PG&E PW July utilities $14,807.62

84241 Bear Electrical Solutions PW
June signal maintenance, repairs, 
install speed sign and crosswalk 

lights
$49,665.50

84261 Kimley-Horn and Associates PW
Bike lanes, Clares St. traffic 
calming, June engineering 

consultant services
$14,020.49

84270 Mid Bay Ford Lincoln PW 2016 Ford F250 4x4 truck $28,471.53
84289 The Don Chapin Co. PW 38th Ave. reconstruction retention $14,905.58

84295 Weber Hayes & Associates PW McGregor Park soil 
testing/removal $10,469.25

eft303 CalPERS Member Services FN PERS contributions PPE 7-16-16 $49,659.96
eft305 IRS FN Federal taxes & Medicare 7-16-16 $32,018.28
eft307 CalPERS Health FN August health insurance $57,248.18

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 07-01-16 City Check Register
2. 07-08-16 City Check Register
3. 07-15-16 City Check Register
4. 07-22-16 City Check Register
5. 07-29-16 City Check Register

Report Prepared By:  Maura Herlihy
Account Technician

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.C

Packet Pg. 30



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.1

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
01

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.2

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
08

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.3

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
15

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.4

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
22

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.C.5

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

7-
29

-1
6 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
12

88
 :

 A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Deny Liability Claim of Roderick O'Neil Whitley in the Amount of $10,000 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Deny liability claim.

DISCUSSION: The following claimant has filed a liability claim against the City of Capitola:

1. Roderick O’Neil Whitley:  $10,000

Report Prepared By:  Liz Nichols
Executive Assistant to the City Manager

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.D

Packet Pg. 78



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: Finance Department

SUBJECT: Consider a Resolution Authorizing the City to Enter into a Joint Powers 
Agreement with California Municipal Finance Authority Joint Power 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Execute the Joint Powers Agreement of the California Municipal 
Finance Authority (CMFA) and adopt a Resolution in favor of the issuance of the Bonds by the 
CMFA for the benefit of Goodwill Central Coast.

BACKGROUND: The City has been asked to join the California Municipal Finance Authority 
(CMFA) Joint Powers Authority to allow the Goodwill Central Coast to refinance their bonds 
issued in 2008. By joining this JPA the City provides a finance mechanism, under State law, 
allowing for the bonds to be refinanced at a lower interest rate, proving the Goodwill savings on 
their debt payments. The City does not take on any responsibility for the Bonds issues by CMFA 
and Goodwill.  The Bonds issued by Goodwill will not be City debt and the City is in no way 
responsible for the debt in the event of a default.

Goodwill Central Coast, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation and an organization 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Borrower”), has 
requested that the California Municipal Finance Authority (the “Authority”) participate in the 
issuance of one series of revenue bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 
$18,000,000 (the “Bonds”) for the purposes of: (i) refinancing the California Statewide 
Communities Development Authority Revenue Bonds (Goodwill of Santa Cruz), Series 2008, 
which bonds financed acquisition, construction and equipping of a training facility for disabled 
and disadvantaged persons and a retail store owned by the Borrower and located at 1550 41st 
Avenue, Capitola, California, These bonds are outstanding in the approximate amount of 
$3,905,000. (ii) financing costs of acquisition, renovation and equipping of an approximately 
98,000 square foot building to be owned by the Borrower and located at 1566 Moffett Street in 
Salinas, California, within Monterey County, California, to house the Borrower's administrative 
headquarters as well as serve as its primary hub for material handling, bulk sales, processing 
and distribution and (iii) financing certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of 
the Bonds.

The Authority has requested that the City Council approve the issuance of the Bonds by the 
Authority in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 4 of the Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement (JPA) relating to the California Municipal Finance Authority, dated as of January 1, 
2004 (the “Agreement”), among certain local agencies.

9.E

Packet Pg. 79



CMFA Approval for Goodwill 
August 25, 2016

The Bonds to be issued by the CMFA for the Project will be the sole responsibility of the 
Borrower, and the City will have no financial, legal, moral obligation, liability or responsibility for 
the Project or the repayment of the Bonds for the financing of the Project. All financing 
documents with respect to the issuance of the Bonds will contain clear disclaimers that the 
Bonds are not obligations of the City or the State of California, but are to be paid for solely from 
funds provided by the Borrower

CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY:

The CMFA was created on January 1, 2004, pursuant to a JPA to promote economic, cultural 
and community development, through the financing of economic development and charitable 
activities throughout California. To date, over 240 municipalities have become members of 
CMFA. 
 
The CMFA was formed to assist local governments, non-profit organizations and businesses 
with the issuance of taxable and tax-exempt bonds aimed at improving the standard of living in 
California. The CMFA’s representatives and its Board of Directors have considerable 
experience in bond financings.

EXECUTION OF THE JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT:

In order for the CMFA to have the authority to serve as the issuer of the bonds for the Project, it 
is necessary for the City of Capitola to become a member of the CMFA.  

The JPA provides that the CMFA is a public entity, separate and apart from each member 
executing such agreement. The debts, liabilities and obligations of the CMFA do not constitute 
debts, liabilities or obligations of the members executing such agreement.  

There are no costs associated with membership in the CMFA and the City will in no way 
become exposed to any financial liability by reason of its membership in the CMFA. In addition, 
participation by the City in the CMFA will not impact the City’s appropriations limits and will not 
constitute any type of indebtedness by the City. Outside of holding the TEFRA hearing, adopting 
the required resolution and executing the JPA of the CMFA, no other participation or activity of 
the City or the City Council with respect to the issuance of the Bonds will be required.

The JPA expressly provides that any member may withdraw from such agreement upon written 
notice to the Board of Directors of the CMFA. In the case of the proposed bond financing for the 
Borrower, the City following its execution of the JPA, could, at any time following the issuance of 
the Bonds, withdraw from the CMFA by providing written notice to the Board of Directors of the 
CMFA.

FISCAL IMPACT: The Bonds to be issued by the CMFA for the Project will be the sole 
responsibility of the Borrower, and the City will have no financial, legal, moral obligation, liability 
or responsibility for the Project or the repayment of the Bonds for the financing of the Project. All 
financing documents with respect to the issuance of the Bonds will contain clear disclaimers that 
the Bonds are not obligations of the City or the State of California, but are to be paid for solely 
from funds provided by the Borrower.

The Board of Directors of the California Foundation for Stronger Communities, a California non-
profit public benefit corporation (the “Foundation”), acts as the Board of Directors for the CMFA. 
Through its conduit issuance activities, the CMFA shares a portion of the issuance fees it 

9.E

Packet Pg. 80



CMFA Approval for Goodwill 
August 25, 2016

receives with its member communities and donates a portion of these issuance fees to the 
Foundation for the support of local charities. With respect to the City of Capitola, it is expected 
that that a portion of the issuance fee attributable to the City will be granted by the CMFA to the 
General Fund of the City. Such grant may be used for any lawful purpose of the City. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. CMFA JPA Agreement - City of Capitola (PDF)

Report Prepared By:  Mark Welch
Finance Director

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.E

Packet Pg. 81



CMFA Approval for Goodwill 
August 25, 2016

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
APPROVING, AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING EXECUTION OF A JOINT 
EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE CALIFORNIA 
MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY AND APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF 
THE CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY REVENUE BOND 
(GOODWILL CENTRAL COAST), SERIES 2016 IN AN AGGREGATE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $18,000,000 FOR THE BENEFIT OF 
GOODWILL CENTRAL COAST

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the 
State of California (the “Act”), certain public agencies (the “Members”) have entered into a Joint 
Exercise of Powers Agreement Relating to the California Municipal Finance Authority, dated as 
of January 1, 2004 (the “Agreement”) in order to form the California Municipal Finance Authority 
(the “Authority”), for the purpose of promoting economic, cultural and community development, 
and in order to exercise any powers common to the Members, including the issuance of bonds, 
notes or other evidences of indebtedness; and

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola, California (the “City”), has determined that it is in the 
public interest and for the public benefit that the City become a Member of the Authority in order 
to facilitate the promotion of economic, cultural and community development activities in the 
City, including the financing of projects therefor by the Authority; and

WHEREAS, there is now before this City Council (the “Council”) the form of the 
Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement has been filed with the City, and the members of the 
Council, with the assistance of its staff, have reviewed said document; and

WHEREAS, Goodwill Central Coast, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (the 
“Borrower”), has requested that the California Municipal Finance Authority (the “Authority”) 
participate in the issuance of a series of revenue bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to 
exceed $18,000,000 (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of making a loan to the Borrower, to enable 
the Borrower to finance and refinance the costs of the acquisition, construction and 
improvement of the facilities described on Exhibit "A" hereto (the “Project”), a portion of which 
are located within the City; and

WHEREAS, the Authority has requested that the City Council (the "Council") of the City 
approve the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority in order to satisfy the requirements of 
Section 4 of the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement Relating to the California Municipal 
Finance Authority, dated as of January 1, 2004 (the “Agreement”), among certain local 
agencies, including the City; and

WHEREAS, the Council desires to approve the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Capitola as 
follows:

Section 1. The foregoing Resolutions are true and correct.

9.E

Packet Pg. 82



CMFA Approval for Goodwill 
August 25, 2016

Section 2. The Agreement is hereby approved and the Mayor or the designee 
thereof is hereby authorized and directed to execute said document, and the City Clerk or such 
Clerk’s designee is hereby authorized and directed to attest thereto.

Section 3. The Council hereby approves the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority. 
It is the purpose and intent of the Council that this Resolution constitute approval of the 
issuance of the Bonds by the Authority, for the purposes of Section 4 of the Agreement.

Section 4. The City shall have no responsibility or liability whatsoever with respect to 
the Bonds. The adoption of this Resolution shall not obligate the City or any department thereof 
to (i) provide any financing to acquire or construct the Project or any refinancing of the Project; 
(ii) approve any application or request for or take any other action in connection with any 
planning approval, permit or other action necessary for the acquisition, rehabilitation or 
operation of the Project; (iii) make any contribution or advance any funds whatsoever to the 
Authority; or (iv) take any further action with respect to the Authority or its membership therein.

Section 5. The Clerk shall forward a certified copy of this Resolution and an 
originally executed Agreement to the Authority in care of its counsel:

Ronald E. Lee, Esq.
Jones Hall, APLC
475 Sansome Street, Suite 1700
San Francisco, CA 94111

Section 6. The officers of the City are hereby authorized and directed, jointly and 
severally, to do any and all things and to execute and deliver any and all documents which they 
deem necessary or advisable in order to carry out, give effect to and comply with the terms and 
intent of this Resolution and the financing transaction approved hereby.

Section 7. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Capitola this 25th day of 
August, 2016.

AYES:
NOES:
ABSTAIN:

_______________________
Ed Bottorff, Mayor

ATTEST

By:_______________________, CMC
      Susan Sneddon, City Clerk

9.E

Packet Pg. 83



 

JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT 

RELATING TO THE CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2004, among the parties executing this 

Agreement (all such parties, except those which have withdrawn as provided herein, are referred 

to as the “Members” and those parties initially executing this Agreement are referred to as the 

“Initial Members”): 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 1, Division 7, Chapter 5 of the California Government 

Code (in effect as of the date hereof and as the same may from time to time be amended or 

supplemented, the “Joint Exercise of Powers Act”), two or more public agencies may by 

agreement jointly exercise any power common to the contracting parties; and 

 

 WHEREAS, each of the Members is a “public agency” as that term is defined in Section 

6500 of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act; and 

 

 WHEREAS, each of the Members is empowered by law to promote economic, cultural 

and community development, including, without limitation, the promotion of opportunities for 

the creation or retention of employment, the stimulation of economic activity, the increase of the 

tax base, and the promotion of opportunities for education, cultural improvement and public 

health, safety and general welfare; and 

 

 WHEREAS, each of the Members may accomplish the purposes and objectives described 

in the preceding preamble by various means, including through making grants, loans or 

providing other financial assistance to governmental and  nonprofit organizations; and 

 

 WHEREAS, each Member is also empowered by law to acquire and dispose of real 

property for a public purpose; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Joint Exercise of Powers Act authorizes the Members to create a joint 

exercise of powers entity with the authority to exercise any powers common to the Members, as 

specified in this Agreement and to exercise the additional powers granted to it in the Joint 

Exercise of Powers Act and any other applicable provisions of the laws of the State of California; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, a public entity established pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Act is 

empowered to issue or execute bonds, notes, commercial paper or any other evidences of 

indebtedness, including leases or installment sale agreements or certificates of participation 

therein (herein “Bonds”), and to otherwise undertake financing programs under the Joint 

Exercise of Powers Act or other applicable provisions of the laws of the State of California to 

accomplish its public purposes; and  

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



 WHEREAS, the Members have determined to specifically authorize a public entity 

authorized pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Act to issue Bonds pursuant to the Joint 

Exercise of Powers Act or other applicable provisions of the laws of the State of California; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Members to use a public entity established pursuant to 

the Joint Exercise of Powers Act to undertake the financing and/or refinancing of projects of any 

nature, including, but not limited to, capital or working capital projects, insurance, liability or 

retirement programs or facilitating Members use of existing or new financial instruments and 

mechanisms; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is further the intention of the Members that the projects undertaken will 

result in significant public benefits to the inhabitants of the jurisdictions of the Members; and 

 

 WHEREAS, by this Agreement, each Member desires to create and establish the 

“California Municipal Finance Authority” for the purposes set forth herein and to exercise the 

powers provided herein;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Members, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and 

agreements herein contained, do agree as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Purpose. 

This Agreement is made pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act.  

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a public entity for the joint exercise of powers 

common to the Members and for the exercise of additional powers given to a joint powers entity 

under the Joint Powers Act or any other applicable law, including, but not limited to, the 

issuance of Bonds for any purpose or activity permitted under the Joint Exercise of Powers Act 

or any other applicable law.  Such purpose will be accomplished and said power exercised in the 

manner hereinafter set forth. 

  

Section 2. Term. 

This Agreement shall become effective in accordance with Section 17 as of the date 

hereof and shall continue in full force and effect until such time as it is terminated in writing by 

all the Members; provided, however, that this Agreement shall not terminate or be terminated 

until all Bonds issued or caused to be issued by the Authority (defined below) shall no longer be 

outstanding under the terms of the indenture, trust agreement or other instrument pursuant to 

which such Bonds are issued, or unless a successor to the Authority assumes all of the 

Authority’s debts, liabilities and obligastions. 

 

Section 3. Authority. 

A. CREATION AND POWERS OF AUTHORITY. 

Pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Act, there is hereby created a public 

entity to be known as the “California Municipal Finance Authority” (the “Authority”), 

and said Authority shall be a public entity separate and apart from the Members.  Its 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



debts, liabilities and obligations do not constitute debts, liabilities or obligations of any 

Members.  

 

B. BOARD. 

The Authority shall be administered by the Board of Directors (the “Board,” or 

the “Directors” and each a “Director”) of the California Foundation for Stronger 

Communities, a nonprofit public benefit corporation organized under the laws of the 

State of California (the “Foundation”), with each such Director serving in his or her 

individual capacity as a Director of the Board.  The Board shall be the administering 

agency of this Agreement and, as such, shall be vested with the powers set forth herein, 

and shall administer this Agreement in accordance with the purposes and functions 

provided herein.  The number of Directors, the appointment of Directors, alternates and 

successors, their respective terms of office, and all other provisions relating to the 

qualification and office of the Directors shall be as provided in the Articles and Bylaws 

of the Foundation, or by resolution of the Board adopted in accordance with the Bylaws 

of the Foundation. 

 

All references in this Agreement to any Director shall be deemed to refer to and 

include the applicable alternate Director, if any, when so acting in place of a regularly 

appointed Director. 

 

Directors may receive reasonable compensation for serving as such, and shall be 

entitled to reimbursement for any expenses actually incurred in connection with serving 

as a Director, if the Board shall determine that such expenses shall be reimbursed and 

there are unencumbered funds available for such purpose. 

 

The Foundation may be removed as administering agent hereunder and replaced 

at any time by amendment of this Agreement approved as provided in Section 16; 

provided that a successor administering agent of this Agreement has been appointed and 

accepted its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

 

C. OFFICERS; DUTIES; OFFICIAL BONDS. 

The officers of the Authority shall be the Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and 

Treasurer (defined below).  The Board, in its capacity as administering agent of this 

Agreement, shall elect a Chair, a Vice-Chair, and a Secretary of the Authority from 

among Directors to serve until such officer is re-elected or a successor to such office is 

elected by the Board.  The Board shall appoint one or more of its officers or employees to 

serve as treasurer, auditor, and controller of the Authority (the “Treasurer”) pursuant to 

Section 6505.6 of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act to serve until such officer is re-elected 

or a successor to such office is elected by the Board. 

 

Subject to the applicable provisions of any resolution, indenture, trust agreement 

or other instrument or proceeding authorizing or securing Bonds (each such resolution, 

indenture, trust agreement, instrument and proceeding being herein referred to as an 

“Indenture”) providing for a trustee or other fiscal agent, and except as may otherwise be 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



specified by resolution of the Board, the Treasurer is designated as the depositary of the 

Authority to have custody of all money of the Authority, from whatever source derived 

and shall have the powers, duties and responsibilities specified in Sections 6505, 6505.5 

and 6509.5 of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act. 

 

The Treasurer of the Authority is designated as the public officer or person who 

has charge of, handles, or has access to any property of the Authority, and such officer 

shall file an official bond with the Secretary of the Authority in the amount specified by 

resolution of the Board but in no event less than $1,000. 

 

The Board shall have the power to appoint such other officers and employees as it 

may deem necessary and to retain independent counsel, consultants and accountants. 

 

The Board shall have the power, by resolution, to the extent permitted by the Joint 

Exercise of Power Act or any other applicable law, to delegate any of its functions to one 

or more of the Directors or officers, employees or agents of the Authority and to cause 

any of said Directors, officers, employees or agents to take any actions and execute any 

documents or instruments for and in the name and on behalf of the Board or the 

Authority. 

 

D. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD. 

(1)  Ralph M. Brown Act. 

 

All meetings of the Board, including, without limitation, regular, 

adjourned regular, special, and adjourned special meetings shall be called, 

noticed, held and conducted in accordance with the provisions of the 

Ralph M. Brown Act (commencing with Section 54950 of the 

Government Code of the State of California), or any successor legislation 

hereinafter enacted (the “Brown Act”). 

 

(2)  Regular Meetings. 

 

The Board shall provide for its regular meetings; provided, 

however, it shall hold at least one regular meeting each year.  The date, 

hour and place of the holding of the regular meetings shall be fixed by 

resolution of the Board.  To the extent permitted by the Brown Act, such 

meetings may be held by telephone conference. 

 

(3)  Special Meetings. 

 

Special meetings of the Board may be called in accordance with 

the provisions of Section 54956 of the Government Code of the State of 

California.  To the extent permitted by the Brown Act, such meetings may 

be held by telephone conference. 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



(4)  Minutes. 

 

The Secretary of the Authority shall cause to be kept minutes of 

the regular, adjourned regular, special, and adjourned special meetings of 

the Board and shall, as soon as possible after each meeting, cause a copy 

of the minutes to be forwarded to each Director. 

 

(5)  Quorum. 

 

A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the 

transaction of business.  No action may be taken by the Board except upon 

the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors constituting a quorum, 

except that less than a quorum may adjourn a meeting to another time and 

place. 

 

E. RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

The Authority may adopt, from time to time, by resolution of the Board such rules 

and regulations for the conduct of its meetings and affairs as may be required. 

 

Section 4. Powers. 

The Authority shall have the power, in its own name, to exercise the common powers of 

the Members and to exercise all additional powers given to a joint powers entity under any of the 

laws of the State of California, including, but not limited to, the Joint Exercise of Powers Act, for 

any purpose authorized under this Agreement.  Such powers shall include the common powers 

specified in this Agreement and may be exercised in the manner and according to the method 

provided in this Agreement.  The Authority is hereby authorized to do all acts necessary for the 

exercise of such power, including, but not limited to, any of all of the following: to make and 

enter into contracts; to employ agents and employees; to acquire, construct, provide for 

maintenance and operation of, or maintain and operate, any buildings, works or improvements; 

to acquire, hold or dispose of property wherever located; to incur debts, liabilities or obligations; 

to receive gifts, contributions and donations of property, funds, services, and other forms of 

assistance from person, firms, corporations and any governmental entity; to sue and be sued in its 

own name; to make grants, loans or provide other financial assistance to governmental and 

nonprofit organizations (e.g., the Members or the Foundation) to accomplish any of its purposes; 

and generally to do any and all things necessary or convenient to accomplish its purposes.   

 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Authority may issue or cause to be 

issued Bonds, and pledge any property or revenues as security to the extent permitted under the 

Joint Exercise of Powers Act, or any other applicable provision of law; provided, however, the 

Authority shall not issue Bonds with respect to any project located in the jurisdiction of one or 

more Members unless the governing body of any such Member, or its duly authorized 

representative, shall approve, conditionally or unconditionally, the project, including the issuance 

of Bonds therefor.  Such approval may be evidenced by resolution, certificate, order, report or 

such other means of written approval of such project as may be selected by the Member (or its 

authorized representative) whose approval is required.  No such approval shall be required in 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



connection with Bonds that refund Bonds previously issued by the Authority and approved by 

the governing board of a Member. 

 

The manner in which the Authority shall exercise its powers and perform its duties is and 

shall be subject to the restrictions upon the manner in which a California general law city could 

exercise such powers and perform such duties.  The manner in which the Authority shall exercise 

its powers and perform its duties shall not be subject to any restrictions applicable to the manner 

in which any other public agency could exercise such powers or perform such duties, whether 

such agency is a party to this Agreement or not. 

 

Section 5. Fiscal Year. 

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Fiscal Year” shall mean the fiscal year as 

established from time to time by resolution of the Board, being, at the date of this Agreement, the 

period from July 1 to and including the following June 30, except for the first Fiscal Year which 

shall be the period from the date of this Agreement to June 30, 2004. 

 

Section 6. Disposition of Assets. 

At the end of the term hereof or upon the earlier termination of this Agreement as set 

forth in Section 2, after payment of all expenses and liabilities of the Authority, all property of 

the Authority both real and personal shall automatically vest in the Members in the manner and 

amount determined by the Board in its sole discretion and shall thereafter remain the sole 

property of the Members; provided, however, that any surplus money on hand shall be returned 

in proportion to the contributions made by the Members. 

 

Section 7. Bonds. 

From time to time the Authority shall issue Bonds, in one or more series, for the purpose 

of exercising its powers and raising the funds necessary to carry out its purposes under this 

Agreement.   

 

The services of bond counsel, financing consultants and other consultants and advisors 

working on the projects and/or their financing shall be used by the Authority.  The expenses of 

the Board shall be paid from the proceeds of the Bonds or any other unencumbered funds of the 

Authority available for such purpose. 

 

Section 8. Bonds Only Limited and Special Obligations of Authority. 

The Bonds, together with the interest and premium, if any, thereon, shall not be deemed 

to constitute a debt of any Member or pledge of the faith and credit of the Members or the 

Authority.  The Bonds shall be only special obligations of the Authority, and the Authority shall 

under no circumstances be obligated to pay the Bonds except from revenues and other funds 

pledged therefor.  Neither the Members nor the Authority shall be obligated to pay the principal 

of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds, or other costs incidental thereto, except from the 

revenues and funds pledged therefor, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the 

Members nor the faith and credit of the Authority shall be pledged to the payment of the 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds nor shall the Members or the Authority in 

any manner be obligated to make any appropriation for such payment. 

 

No covenant or agreement contained in any Bond or related document shall be deemed to 

be a covenant or agreement of any Director, or any officer, employee or agent of the Authority in 

his or her individual capacity and neither the Board of the Authority nor any Director or officer 

thereof executing the Bonds shall be liable personally on any Bond or be subject to any personal 

liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of any Bonds. 

 

Section 9. Accounts and Reports. 

 All funds of the Authority shall be strictly accounted for.  The Authority shall establish 

and maintain such funds and accounts as may be required by good accounting practice and by 

any provision of any Indenture (to the extent such duties are not assigned to a trustee of Bonds).  

The books and records of the Authority shall be open to inspection at all reasonable times by 

each Member. 

 

 The Treasurer of the Authority shall cause an independent audit to be made of the books 

of accounts and financial records of the Authority by a certified public accountant or public 

accountant in compliance with the provisions of Section 6505 of the Joint Exercise of Powers 

Act.  In each case the minimum requirements of the audit shall be those prescribed by the State 

Controller for special districts under Section 26909 of the Government Code of the State of 

California and shall conform to generally accepted auditing standards.  When such an audit of 

accounts and records is made by a certified public accountant or public accountant, a report 

thereof shall be filed as a public record with each Member and also with the county auditor of 

each county in which a Member is located; provided, however, that to the extent permitted by 

law, the Authority may, instead of filing such report with each Member and such county auditor, 

elect to post such report as a public record electronically on a website designated by the 

Authority.  Such report if made shall be filed within 12 months of the end of the Fiscal Year or 

Years under examination.   

 

 The Treasurer is hereby directed to report in writing on the first day of July, October, 

January, and April of each year to the Board and the Members which report shall describe the 

amount of money held by the Treasurer for the Authority, the amount of receipts since the last 

such report, and the amount paid out since the last such report (which may exclude amounts held 

by a trustee or other fiduciary in connection with any Bonds to the extent that such trustee or 

other fiduciary provided regular reports covering such amounts.) 

 

 Any costs of the audit, including contracts with, or employment of, certified public 

accountants or public accountants in making an audit pursuant to this Section, shall be borne by 

the Authority and shall be a charge against any unencumbered funds of the Authority available 

for that purpose. 

 

 In any Fiscal Year the Board may, by resolution adopted by unanimous vote, replace the 

annual special audit with an audit covering a two-year period. 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



Section 10. Funds. 

Subject to the applicable provisions of any Indenture, which  may provide for a trustee or 

other fiduciary to receive, have custody of and disburse Authority funds, the Treasurer of the 

Authority shall receive, have the custody of and disburse Authority funds pursuant to the 

accounting procedures developed under Sections 3.C and 9, and shall make the disbursements 

required by this Agreement or otherwise necessary to carry out any of the provisions of purposes 

of this Agreement. 

 

Section 11. Notices. 

Notices and other communications hereunder to the Members shall be sufficient if 

delivered to the clerk of the governing body of each Member; provided, however, that to the 

extent permitted by law, the Authority may, provide notices and other communications and 

postings electronically (including, without limitation, through email or by posting to a website). 

 

Section 12. Additional Members/Withdrawal of Members. 

Qualifying public agencies may be added as parties to this Agreement and become 

Members upon:  (1) the filing by such public agency with the Authority of an executed 

counterpart of this Agreement, together with a copy of the resolution of the governing body of 

such public agency approving this Agreement and the execution and delivery hereof; and (2) 

adoption of a resolution of the Board approving the addition of such public agency as a Member.  

Upon satisfaction of such conditions, the Board shall file such executed counterpart of this 

Agreement as an amendment hereto, effective upon such filing. 

 

A Member may withdraw from this Agreement upon written notice to the Board; 

provided, however, that no such withdrawal shall result in the dissolution of the Authority so 

long as any Bonds remain outstanding.  Any such withdrawal shall be effective only upon receipt 

of the notice of withdrawal by the Board which shall acknowledge receipt of such notice of 

withdrawal in writing and shall file such notice as an amendment to this Agreement effective 

upon such filing. 

 

Section 13. Indemnification. 

To the full extent permitted by law, the Board may authorize indemnification by the 

Authority of any person who is or was a Director or an officer, employee of other agent of the 

Authority, and who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to a proceeding by 

reason of the fact that such person is or was such a Director or an officer, employee or other 

agent of the Authority, against expenses, including attorneys fees, judgments, fines, settlements 

and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such proceeding, if such 

person acted in good faith in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the best interests 

of the Authority and, in the case of a criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the 

conduct of such person was unlawful and, in the case of an action by or in the right of the 

Authority, acted with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in 

a like position would use under similar circumstances. 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



Section 14. Contributions  and Advances. 

Contributions or advances of public funds and of the use of personnel, equipment or 

property may be made to the Authority by the Members for any of the purposes of this 

Agreement.  Payment of public funds may be made to defray the cost of any such contribution or 

advance. Any such advance may be made subject to repayment, and in such case shall be repaid, 

in the manner agreed upon by the Authority and the Member making such advance at the time of 

such advance.  It is mutually understood and agreed to that no Member has any obligation to 

make advances or contributions to the Authority to provide for the costs and expenses of 

administration of the Authority, even though any Member may do so.  The Members understand 

and agree that a portion of the funds of the Authority that otherwise may be allocated or 

distributed to the Members may instead be used to make grants, loans or provide other financial 

assistance to governmental units and  nonprofit organizations (e.g., the Foundation) to 

accomplish any of the governmental unit’s or nonprofit organization's purposes. 
 

Section 15. Immunities. 

All of the privileges and immunities from liabilities, exemptions from laws, ordinances 

and rules, and other benefits which apply to the activity of officers, agents or employees of 

Members when performing their respective functions within the territorial limits of their 

respective public agencies, shall apply to the same degree and extent to the Directors, officers, 

employees, agents or other representatives of the Authority while engaged in the performance of 

any of their functions or duties under the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

Section 16. Amendments. 

Except as provided in Section 12 above, this Agreement shall not be amended, modified, 

or altered, unless the negative consent of each of the Members is obtained. To obtain the 

negative consent of each of the Members, the following negative consent procedure shall be 

followed:  (a) the Authority  shall provide each Member with a notice at least sixty (60) days 

prior to the date such proposed amendment is to become effective explaining the nature of such 

proposed amendment and this negative consent procedure; (b) the Authority  shall provide each 

Member who did not respond a reminder notice with a notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the 

date such proposed amendment is to become effective; and (c) if no Member objects to the 

proposed amendment in writing within sixty (60) days after the initial notice, the proposed 

amendment shall become effective with respect to all Members. 

 

Section 17. Effectiveness. 

This Agreement shall become effective and be in full force and effect and a legal, valid 

and binding obligation of each of the Members on the date that the Board shall have received 

from two of the Initial Members an executed counterpart of this Agreement, together with a 

certified copy of a resolution of the governing body of each such Initial Member approving this 

Agreement and the execution and delivery hereof. 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



Section 18. Partial Invalidity. 

If any one or more of the terms, provisions, promises, covenants or conditions of this 

Agreement shall to any extent be adjudged invalid, unenforceable, void or voidable for any 

reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction, each and all of the remaining terms, 

provisions, promises, covenants and conditions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, 

and shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 

Section 19. Successors. 

This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit  of the successors of 

the parties hereto.  Except to the extent expressly provided herein, no Member may assign any 

right or obligation hereunder without the consent of the other Members. 

 

Section 20. Miscellaneous. 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an 

original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

The section headings herein are for convenience only and are not to be construed as 

modifying or governing the language in the section referred to. 

 

Wherever in this Agreement any consent or approval is required, the same shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

 

This Agreement shall be governed under the laws of the State of California. 

 

This Agreement is the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement among the 

Members, which supercedes and merges all prior proposals, understandings, and other 

agreements, whether oral, written, or implied in conduct, between and among the Members 

relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Capitola has caused this Agreement to be 

executed and attested by its duly authorized representatives as of the ___ day of _____________, 

2016. 

 

Member: 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 

 

 

By        

Name: 

Title: 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By        

Name: 

Title: 

 

9.E.1

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

M
F

A
 J

P
A

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

C
ap

it
o

la
  (

15
75

 :
 C

M
F

A
 A

p
p

ro
va

l f
o

r 
G

o
o

d
w

ill
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: Capitola Police Department

SUBJECT: Consider authorizing a City Council Response to the 2015-2016 Santa Cruz 
County Grand Jury Report titled, "Capitola Police Department’s Citizen Complaint 
Procedures: Nothing to Complain About" 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept the recommendations by the Santa Cruz County Civil 
Grand Jury and direct the City Clerk to send the completed response packet per California 
Penal Code §933.05.

BACKGROUND: Earlier this summer the Santa Cruz County Civil Grand Jury released a report 
investigating the Capitola Police Department’s handling of citizen complaints and evaluating the 
Department’s performance for fairness, timeliness, professionalism, and willingness to improve. 
The Police Department has a policy to provide guidelines for the reporting, investigation and 
disposition of complaints regarding the conduct of members and employees. In the interest of 
protecting the rights of its citizens, each law enforcement agency in California is required to 
have a procedure to investigate citizen complaints and to make this procedure available to the 
public. The Grand Jury found our policy meets all of the requirements set forth in California 
Penal Code (PC) §832.5.

DISCUSSION: The Grand Jury completed its investigation and posted its eight findings in June 
of 2016. A copy of their report is attached (Attachment 2) and is available on the City’s website. 
Two recommendations were made by the Grand Jury. The Police Department agrees with these 
findings and both have been implemented. The following recommendations (R) were listed:

R1 − While the Capitola Police Department does complete its investigations within the 
12-month period allotted, we believe that this could be improved upon. We recommend 
working to reduce the time required to process complaints (F1) (Implemented).

R2 − The Capitola Police Department should consider placing statistics on closure of 
complaints online. This would give better visibility to the residents of Capitola on the 
performance of their Police Department (Implemented).

The Grand Jury commended the excellent work by the Police Department on the way we 
handled our complaint process as an effective program that deals fairly with both the 
complainant and the officer involved to ensure that the people of Capitola are well served.

10.A

Packet Pg. 95



2016 Santa Cruz County Grand Jury Final Report 
August 25, 2016

PC §832.5 requires the respondent to a Grand Jury report to comment on each finding and 
recommendation within a report. Staff recommends that the response packet be completed on 
or before the due date of September 21, 2016, indicating we agree with their findings and have 
implemented their recommendations.

FISCAL IMPACT: None

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Capitola Response
2. Grand Jury Report on the Capitola Police Complaint
3. Capitola Data

Report Prepared By:  Rudy Escalante
Police Chief

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

10.A

Packet Pg. 96



Page 1 of 7

The 2015-2016 Santa Cruz County Civil Grand Jury

Requires that the

Capitola City Council

Respond to the Findings and Recommendations

Specified in the Report Titled

Capitola Police Department’s
Citizen Complaint Procedures

Nothing to Complain About

by September 21, 2016

When the response is complete, please

1. Email the completed Response Packet as a file attachment to

grandjury@scgrandjury.org, and

2. Print and send a hard copy of the completed Response Packet to

The Honorable Judge John Gallagher
Santa Cruz Courthouse
701 Ocean St.
Santa Cruz, CA 95060

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 2 of 7

Instructions for Respondents

California law PC § 933.05 (included below) requires the respondent to a Grand Jury 
report to comment on each finding and recommendation within a report. Explanations 
for disagreements and timeframes for further implementation or analysis must be 
provided. Please follow the format below when preparing the responses.

Response Format

1. For the Findings included in this Response Packet, select one of the following 
responses and provide the required additional information:

a. AGREE with the Finding, or

b. PARTIALLY DISAGREE with the Finding and specify the portion of the 
Finding that is disputed and include an explanation of the reasons 
therefor, or

c. DISAGREE with the Finding and provide an explanation of the reasons 
therefor.

2. For the Recommendations included in this Response Packet, select one of the 
following actions and provide the required additional information:

a. HAS BEEN IMPLEMENTED, with a summary regarding the implemented 
action, or

b. HAS NOT YET BEEN IMPLEMENTED BUT WILL BE IMPLEMENTED IN 
THE FUTURE, with a timeframe or expected date for implementation, or

c. REQUIRES FURTHER ANALYSIS, with an explanation and the scope 
and parameters of an analysis or study, and a timeframe for that analysis 
or study; this timeframe shall not exceed six months from the date of 
publication of the grand jury report, or

d. WILL NOT BE IMPLEMENTED because it is not warranted or is not 
reasonable, with an explanation therefor.

Validation

Date of governing body response approval: ___________________________________ 

If you have questions about this response form, please contact the Grand Jury by 
calling 831-454-2099 or by sending an email to grandjury@scgrandjury.org.

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 3 of 7

Findings

F1. The Capitola Police Department could reduce the time needed to complete many 
complaint investigations.

 X  AGREE

  PARTIALLY DISAGREE – explain the disputed portion

  DISAGREE – explain why

Response explanation (required for a response other than Agree):

Complaints are divided into two categories and are defined as the following:

Internal Affairs Investigation (IA) • Any allegation of misconduct or improper job 
performance that, if true, would constitute a violation of Department policy or of federal, 
state or local law, policy or rule. Personnel complaints may be generated internally or by 
the public (Formal).

Inquiry • Inquiries about conduct or performance that, if true, would not violate 
Department policy or federal, state or local law, policy or rule may be handled informally 
by a supervisor and shall not be considered a personnel complaint. Such inquiries 
generally include clarification regarding policy, procedures or the response to specific 
incidents by the Department (Informal).

In completing investigations, the Department must balance the needs of our community 
for protection and service, the importance of thoroughly investigating citizens' 
complaints, and the rights of Police Officers.   

Over the last six years the City has conducted 35 total IAs and Inquiries.  Every one of 
those investigations was completed within the statutory timelines.  Nevertheless, the 
Department will always strive to improve and will seek opportunities to reduce its 
investigations.

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 4 of 7

F2. The Capitola Police Department and citizens would benefit by having statistics 
related to complaints and closure of complaints available online.

 X  AGREE

  PARTIALLY DISAGREE – explain the disputed portion

  DISAGREE – explain why

Response explanation (required for a response other than Agree):

See R2

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 5 of 7

Recommendations

R1. While the Capitola Police Department does complete its investigations within the 
12-month period allotted, we believe that this could be improved upon. We 
recommend working to reduce the time required to process complaints. (F1)

 X  HAS BEEN IMPLEMENTED – summarize what has been done

  HAS NOT BEEN IMPLEMENTED BUT WILL BE IMPLEMENTED IN THE 
FUTURE – summarize what will be done and the timeframe

  REQUIRES FURTHER ANALYSIS – explain scope and timeframe 
(not to exceed six months)

  WILL NOT BE IMPLEMENTED – explain why

Response explanation, summary, and timeframe:

Department Management has reviewed the last six years of data regarding 
investigations, and while all were completed within the statutorily prescribed timelines, 
in some instances the timelines to complete the investigations may have been possible 
to reduce.  

Understanding the need to balance the needs of our community for protection and 
service, to thoroughly investigate citizens' complaints, and the rights of Police Officers, 
Department Management has met to discuss the importance of completing 
investigations in a timely fashion and clearly communicated that priority to personnel 
involved in the investigation process. 

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 6 of 7

R2. The Capitola Police Department should consider placing statistics on closure of 
complaints online. This would give better visibility to the residents of Capitola on 
the performance of their Police Department. (F2)

 X  HAS BEEN IMPLEMENTED – summarize what has been done

  HAS NOT BEEN IMPLEMENTED BUT WILL BE IMPLEMENTED IN THE 
FUTURE – summarize what will be done and the timeframe

  REQUIRES FURTHER ANALYSIS – explain scope and timeframe 
(not to exceed six months)

  WILL NOT BE IMPLEMENTED – explain why

Response explanation, summary, and timeframe:

The Department has placed six years of data summarizing the results of complaints 
online, including both IAs and Inquiries.

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Respond by September 21, 2016 Page 7 of 7

Penal Code § 933.05

1. For Purposes of subdivision (b) of § 933, as to each Grand Jury finding, the 
responding person or entity shall indicate one of the following:

a. the respondent agrees with the finding,
b. the respondent disagrees wholly or partially with the finding, in which case 

the response shall specify the portion of the finding that is disputed and 
shall include an explanation of the reasons therefor.

2. For purpose of subdivision (b) of § 933, as to each Grand Jury recommendation, 
the responding person shall report one of the following actions:

a. the recommendation has been implemented, with a summary regarding the 
implemented action,

b. the recommendation has not yet been implemented but will be implemented 
in the future, with a timeframe for implementation,

c. the recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation and the 
scope and parameters of an analysis or study, and a timeframe for the 
matter to be prepared for discussion by the officer or director of the agency 
or department being investigated or reviewed, including the governing body 
of the public agency when applicable. This timeframe shall not exceed six 
months from the date of the publication of the Grand Jury report, or

d. the recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or 
is not reasonable, with an explanation therefor.

3. However, if a finding or recommendation of the Grand Jury addresses budgetary 
or personnel matters of a County department headed by an elected officer, both 
the department head and the Board of Supervisors shall respond if requested by 
the Grand Jury, but the response of the Board of Supervisors shall address only 
those budgetary or personnel matters over which it has some decision-making 
authority. The response of the elected department head shall address all aspects 
of the findings or recommendations affecting his or her department.

4. A Grand Jury may request a subject person or entity to come before the Grand 
Jury for the purpose of reading and discussing the findings of the Grand Jury 
report that relates to that person or entity in order to verify the accuracy of the 
findings prior to their release.

5. During an investigation, the Grand Jury shall meet with the subject of that 
investigation regarding that investigation unless the court, either on its own 
determination or upon request of the foreperson of the Grand Jury, determines 
that such a meeting would be detrimental.

6. A Grand Jury shall provide to the affected agency a copy of the portion of the 
Grand Jury report relating to that person or entity two working days prior to its 
public release and after the approval of the presiding judge. No officer, agency, 
department, or governing body of a public agency shall disclose any 
contents of the report prior to the public release of the final report.

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
es

p
o

n
se

  (
15

25
 :

 2
01

6 
S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
C

o
u

n
ty

 G
ra

n
d

 J
u

ry
 F

in
al

 R
ep

o
rt

)



 
 

Capitola Police Department’s 
Citizen Complaint Procedures 

Nothing to Complain About 
 

Summary 
The Santa Cruz County Grand Jury investigated the Capitola Police Department's 
handling of citizen complaints and evaluated the department's performance for fairness, 
timeliness, professionalism, and willingness to improve. 
Our investigation concluded the department is balancing the needs of its community for 
protection and service, consistently investigating citizens' complaints thoroughly, 
effectively, and expeditiously. We believe that with minor improvements in its complaint 
procedures the department could be a role model for other county law enforcement 
agencies. 

Background 
The impact of poor policing is felt widely throughout the community and among the rank 
and file. Many California police agencies are acknowledged as embracing high 
standards in delivering professional and effective law enforcement. One of the most 
powerful tools in protecting a department’s integrity and ensuring the confidence and 
respect of its community is the citizen complaint process. 
Complaints should be investigated quickly and fairly, and corrective action taken if 
necessary. The outcome must be communicated, demonstrating the importance of 
proper handling of the complaint while protecting the privacy of those involved. 
How we view and interact with our police departments has been affected by media 
coverage of provocative and disturbing events nationwide. Often it is not the events, but 
the manner of handling the investigations that erodes public confidence in law 
enforcement. Poor communication of all of the facts relevant to these events often gives 
an incomplete picture to the press and the people. 

The Capitola Police Department is a relatively small department: It consists of 21 sworn 
officers and two reserves. The sworn officers are a Chief, one Captain, four Sergeants, 
two Detectives, and 13 Patrol Officers. Other employees include a small number of 
community service officers, lifeguards, parking enforcement officers, and administrative 
staff. Despite its size, the department sees a significant number of calls for service. 
   

 
June 23, 2016 Page 1 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 
 

Capitola Police Calls for Service and Arrests 2010  2014 

Year  Calls for 
Service 

Felony 
Arrests 

Misdemeanor 
Arrests  Total Arrests 

2010  19,693  156  768  924 

2011  17,760  122  612  734 

2012  16,142  143  477  620 

2013  17,574  144  581  725 

2014  19,740  172  703  875 
 

In the interest of protecting the rights of its citizens, each law enforcement agency in 
California is required to have a procedure to investigate citizen complaints and to make 
this procedure available to the public (California Penal Code §832.5). [1] 
The Grand Jury decided to investigate the policies and procedures of the Capitola 
Police Department and its adherence to these procedures, as the department sees a 
wide range of incidents that adequately reflect those in other parts of the county. 

Scope 
This investigation reviewed the Capitola Police Department’s complaint program.[2] 
California Penal Code §832.5[1] requires that each law enforcement agency have a 
complaint program and specifies the minimum program requirements. We verified the 
Capitola Police Department has a complaint program that meets these requirements 
and that the policy and complaint forms are available to the public. 
The existence of a complaint process does not itself ensure a department is meeting its 
legal requirements under this statute: departments may have policies, practices, or 
conduct that would discourage the use of their complaint program. At each step of its 
investigation, the Grand Jury determined whether this was the case. 
We reviewed all complaints for a five year period, both external and internal. We did not 
investigate complaints against traffic enforcement officers or other employees of the 
department. We reviewed all written documentation collected by the department during 
its investigations. In one case we contacted witnesses and investigated some details to 
see how our evaluation compared to the resolution of the Capitola Police Department. 
Lastly, we reviewed complaints looking for patterns such as officers not receiving 
counseling for repeat offenses, officers committing the same offense with impunity, or 
specific types of offenses being ignored. 

Investigation 
The Grand Jury found the Capitola Police Department’s Citizen Complaint Form[3] and 

 
June 23, 2016 Page 2 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=pen&group=00001-01000&file=830-832.18
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/policy_1020_cpd_personnel_complaints.pdf
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=pen&group=00001-01000&file=830-832.18
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/capitola_police_department_citizen_complaint_form_updated_030216.pdf


 
 

procedures[2] available online with a quick internet search. They are also available at the 
front desk at the Capitola Police Department. The complaint form was easy to 
understand and fill out. 
The policy document is also intelligible. There are some terms that require prior 
knowledge or a reference search to understand, but since this document is primarily 
directed at the people administering the system this is acceptable. The policy meets all 
of the requirements set forth in California Penal Code §832.5. 
Because of the sensitive nature of the complaints we were required to review them 
onsite. We were greeted warmly and provided with space to work without interruption 
or oversight. There was someone available to provide supporting documentation when 
required. 
We discovered early in the review that internal complaints and external complaints are 
treated in an almost identical fashion. Internal complaints are generated by officers 
based on the identification of an issue with officer conduct or some other infraction. 
While most typically are not as serious as external complaints, that they exist and are 
used demonstrates a commitment to correcting deficiencies. 
We found that a number of complaints were dropped at the request of the complainant. 
In some cases this was due to the complainant seeing a video of the incident and 
admitting that it looked different in hindsight. Another complainant, when contacted to 
discuss the issue, stated that they thought nothing would happen anyway. Lastly, at 
least one complaining citizen was unreachable. 
Upon review of the case files we found that in each incident where it was determined 
that the officer had committed an infraction of department policies or state or local laws, 
the officer was disciplined appropriately. We did not see any indication that officers were 
being unfairly protected or targeted by this process. 
One complaint was investigated in greater detail. An officer had been accused of 
making a significant mistake and of conduct that was inappropriate. We conducted 
interviews to understand the exact nature of the grievance. We read the police reports 
from a number of officers and witness statements. We then reviewed the Capitola 
Police Department’s investigation and found they demonstrated integrity in upholding 
the citizen’s complaint. They completed their investigation and sent a letter to the 
complainant within the time required by the Capitola policy. 
Lastly, we reviewed the statistics on the number of cases versus the number of calls for 
service to get a feel for how often complaints are occurring. We could find no 
comparable statistics but it is the Grand Jury's opinion that the complaint rate is low 
considering the workload of the department. 
   

 
June 23, 2016 Page 3 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/policy_1020_cpd_personnel_complaints.pdf


 
 

Capitola Police Complaints 2010 – 2014 

Year  Calls for 
Service  Complaints 

Investigations 
of Internal 
Complaints 

Investigations 
of External 
Complaints  

Complaints 
Per 10,000 

Calls 

2010  19,693  6  4  2  3.05 

2011  17,760  1  0  1  0.56 

2012  16,142  1  0  0  0.06 

2013  17,574  9  1  2  5.12 

2014  19,740  9  2  1  4.56 

  2015*  17,000  9  5  2  5.30 

 
Facts 
 1. The Capitola Police Department’s Citizen Complaint Form and policy are 

available online and are easily accessible. 
 2. The Grand Jury reviewed complaints generated both internally and externally. 
 3. We did not investigate complaints against parking enforcement officers or other 

staff. 
 4. A majority of complaints received between 2010 and 2015 were generated 

internally. 
 5. All internal and external complaints are treated equally. 
 6. When appropriate, Capitola Police Department disciplines the subject of the 

complaint. 
 7. Many complaints were dropped due to a lack of follow up by the complainant. 
 8. Some complaints were dropped after review of the information with the 

complainant. 
 9. Some complaints were not sustained due to lack of supporting evidence. 
10. Not all aspects of a complaint are actionable offenses, e.g., "I didn’t like the 

officer’s attitude.” 
11. Some complaints are generated due to a lack of understanding of the laws 

related to the perceived offense. 
12. The Capitola Police Department sends the complainant a letter after the 

investigation, reporting whether the complaint is sustained or not. 
13. Some complaints take a substantial amount of time to investigate and resolve. 
   

 
June 23, 2016 Page 4 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 
 

Findings 
F1. The Capitola Police Department could reduce the time needed to complete many 

complaint investigations. 
F2. The Capitola Police Department and citizens would benefit by having statistics 

related to complaints and closure of complaints available online. 
F3. The process for submitting a complaint to the Capitola Police Department is 

documented and is reasonable. 
F4. The Capitola Police Department policy for citizen complaints is consistent with 

governing laws. 
F5. The Capitola Police Department conducts its complaint program consistently with 

its policy. 
F6. The Capitola Police Department investigates its own officers with integrity and 

fairness. 
F7. The Capitola Police Department informs the submitter of their complaint 

resolution. 
F8. We find that the Capitola Police Department is conducting its duties in a 

professional manner. 

Recommendations 
R1. While the Capitola Police Department does complete its investigations within the 

12month period allotted, we believe that this could be improved upon. We 
recommend working to reduce the time required to process complaints. (F1) 

R2. The Capitola Police Department should consider placing statistics on closure of 
complaints online. This would give better visibility to the residents of Capitola on 
the performance of their Police Department. (F2) 

Commendations 
C1. The Grand Jury commends the excellent work by the Capitola Police Department 

on the way they handle their complaint process. It is an effective program that 
deals fairly with both the complainant and the officer involved to ensure that the 
people of Capitola are well served. 

 

Respondent  Findings  Recommendations  Respond within/ 
Respond by 

Capitola  
City Council  F1, F2  R1, R2  90 days 

September 21, 2016 

 

 
June 23, 2016 Page 5 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 
 

Definitions 
● External Complaint: A complaint initiated by a private citizen to the Capitola 

Police Department concerning officer conduct. 
● Internal Complaint: A complaint initiated by someone within the Capitola Police 

Department concerning officer conduct. 
● Inquiry: A complaint that does not actually reach the investigation phase. 

Usually dropped by the complainant. 

Sources 

References 
1. Legislative Council, State of California. “California Penal Code §832.5.” 

Accessed May 23, 2016 
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgibin/displaycode?section=pen&group=0000101000
&file=830832.18  

2. Capitola Police Department. February 2014. “Capitola Police Department Policy 
Manual  Policy 1020 Personnel Complaints.” Accessed May 23, 2016 
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/p
olicy_1020_cpd_personnel_complaints.pdf 

3. Capitola Police Department. February 2016. “Capitola Police Department Citizen 
Complaint Form”. Accessed May 23, 2016 
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/c
apitola_police_department_citizen_complaint_form_updated_030216.pdf 

Site Visits 
Capitola Police Department 
 

 
June 23, 2016 Page 6 of 6 

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

o
la

 P
o

lic
e 

C
o

m
p

la
in

t 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=pen&group=00001-01000&file=830-832.18
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=pen&group=00001-01000&file=830-832.18
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/policy_1020_cpd_personnel_complaints.pdf
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/policy_1020_cpd_personnel_complaints.pdf
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/capitola_police_department_citizen_complaint_form_updated_030216.pdf
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/2459/capitola_police_department_citizen_complaint_form_updated_030216.pdf


Inquiries IIA's & Inquiries 
- - - ----7-- ----:-. - ----+- - - --- ---~----'- ---------------'-- - - --"------

External Total.\ i Tota l 
2 6 I 2010 0 ! 6 

:----------1- -- ! 1 i 2011 0 j-- 1--

_ _ __ -+-__ ____ ____ O __ L~_.__ I· I 2012 1 __ -1--1---- ----

I 3 I! 2013 6 I 9 --.-------;...---- - ---- --:--- .-- .-----.. -- ' -.-'-.--- ---- - .-- - - --r------ - - -.---
1 ! 3 i I 2014 6 : 9 

lA's 

~ Internal 
2010 I 4 
2011 0 
2012 0 

2 

-----------~- -------- ----- --- ---.,.._- - --- - - - - - --/ 
2 7 2015 2 9 

8 20 Total 
----15- ---- ---i-35-- --- - --

- - - - --- --- --;-.- --- ----- .- - -,--.-- ----------- - I 

_ _ _ _ -+-___ _ __ 4_0~ _ __L- - ---.. _._ - - -i--+---.- -- ----_ .. _ _ . ___ _ ! ___ _ _ ___ -'--
! . lA's and 

--- ----j-,-------- ---"--- '-- '--'- - --.- ----+----- -- -----.---- -. - - _·_- _ ··_-_··_ ----- - - 1 
lA's Inquiries Inquiries 

----------- -------.--_ .. . _- -- - - -- - - - - ---.---- -
Sustained , 18 90% Sustained 2 13% I 20 57% .. -~.---.-----t- .---- - _ .. -.- -- - -- - -1 .. -- -- -- ---

Unfounded i 0 . 0% . Unfounded 13 87% i 13 37% 
-,-- ---_ ._----- ------ .. - ---_.-: -~ .--------~------------

Exonerated ; ___ __ . 1 5% ! ! Exonerated 0 0% 1 3% 
--- - - ·1- - - -- - - r---

Pending ~ i 1 5% I Pending 0 O% ! 1 

-~_--__ T=o=t=al- . ...... ~=========~~----------+_i_I ==2---~~~-----~~---,--+-i _ _ T._o_ta_I _____ 1_5_____ 35 

3% 

I i . ----.--- - - - - - - -------r-+i------ - ------- - -. -- '-, - -·- -·- ------- - 1 
~~lIs for Service ___ _ > __ _ _______ .. _ __ ~._._, _____ _ " _ . __ _ _ _ _ ____ - - .. -1-..-. .. _ ... _____ ._. ___ --/ 

2010 19,693 ! . 12010 thru 2015 : 
~011 __ __ ~ _ ___ ~~ 760 -~~~- ~ __ :~_ - ~~~_~ .. -~-·~5393-;;i-~-~e~~k; res~lt in~.~~_-._IA_· -____ _ _l 

2012 i 16,142 , : ! 1 in 7191 calls for service result in an Inquiry 
--2013--:- 17,574 r-----------! i1 in 3082 calls for service result in an IA or In'-q'-u-iry-- I 
-20i-4---+-------1~,740 ~ __ . __ . __ '=_--i . ! --------

- -2015-- -' - 16,955 ; i ! * Body Cameras activated July 2015 
-- - ---"--r---·------r--I -- . i 

Total 107,864 iii I - ----- ;--- i-- ------~----.-.-------___t----------

- ---- - - - ,----.. --- - --- --. .:....' ~.- -- ---L-! - ~---------I , i 
t------ --j---- - ------.-'------.---~--~I-_-- _ _______ ______ _ . _ _ 

I 

- ;----- - ----- ----+- ---- ----- ;-+- - _ ._- ----------+----------1 

10.A.3

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 D
at

a 
 (

15
25

 :
 2

01
6 

S
an

ta
 C

ru
z 

C
o

u
n

ty
 G

ra
n

d
 J

u
ry

 F
in

al
 R

ep
o

rt
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider Applications for the Community Grants and Recommendations of the 
Community Grants Ad-Hoc Subcommittee 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider the recommendations of the Community Grants Ad-Hoc 
Subcommittee and determine grant award amounts for Fiscal Years 2016/17 and 2017/18.

BACKGROUND: Each year during the Budget process the City Council allocates funding for the 
Community Based Health and Human Services Providers Program (Program) for the following 
fiscal year. In 2014 the Council moved to a two-year grant cycle, and no new applications were 
accepted for the Fiscal Year 2015/16 grant cycle.

At the January 28, 2016, City Council meeting, the City Council adopted recommendations from 
the Community Grant Ad-Hoc Subcommittee (Subcommittee) including:

� Continuing the two-year grant cycle;

� Separating the budgeting of the program from the allocation of requests;

� Budgeting of $275,000 for the program in Fiscal Years 2016/17 and 2017/18.  

The City Council opened up the Community Grant Program for applications from community 
organizations for Fiscal Years 2016/17 and 2017/18.

The adopted Fiscal Year 2016/17 Budget included $275,000 in funding for the Program in both 
Fiscal Year 16/17 and 17/18 budgets. At the June 1, 2016, City Council appointed Mayor 
Bottorff and Vice-Mayor Harlan to review the agency applications for Community Grant funding 
for Fiscal Years 2016/17 and 2017/18.

DISCUSSION: The City of Capitola participates in the County of Santa Cruz Common 
Application for the Community Grants from the City of Capitola. For the Fiscal Years 2016/17 
and 2017/18 grant cycles, the City received grant applications for 42 programs from 31 
community agencies. The following table shows the total amounts requested for Fiscal Year 
2016/17:

Base Grant Request $274,098.00
Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) $3,652.83
Additional/One-Time Requests $3,157.00

10.B

Packet Pg. 111



Community Grants 
August 25, 2016

Total Requested $280,907.83

The Subcommittee held meetings in July and August to review the grant requests and make 
recommendation to the City Council. The following are the recommendations of the 
Subcommittee:

 Reduce the base amounts for the following organizations:

Agency Fiscal Year 2016/17 
Base Request

Fiscal Year 2016/17
Recommendations

Campus Kids Connection $17,331.00 $15,331.00
Parents Center of Santa Cruz $7,373.00 $6,373.00
Senior Citizens Legal Services $10,163.00 $8,663.00

The recommended changes reduce the Base Grant amount by $4,500.00 to $269,598.00:

 Add a 2% adjustment for all grant requesters in Fiscal Year 2016/17 totaling $5,392.00.  

 The total recommended 2016/17 grant amount will be $274,900.00. 

 Maintain the same program of funding level for Fiscal Year 2017/18.

FISCAL IMPACT: The anticipated costs of the recommendations of the Subcommittee will be 
$274,990 in Fiscal Year 2016/17 and $274,990 in Fiscal Year 2017/18. The budgeted amount 
for the Community Grant Program is $275,000 in Fiscal Year 2016/17 and $275,000 in Fiscal 
Year 2017/18.

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Fiscal Year 2016-2018 Subcommittee Recommendations

Report Prepared By:  Larry Laurent
Assistant to the City Manager

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

10.B

Packet Pg. 112



Continuing Programs Primary FY 16/17 Request
FY 16/17 Ad Hoc 

Committee 
FY 16/17 Ad Hoc 

Committee 

Agency Service Base  Base Recommendation
2% COLA 

Recommendation
Strategy

Advocacy, Inc. FS‐srv $7,529.00 $7,529.00 $7,529.00 $7,680.00
Big Brothers Big Sisters of Santa Cruz County, Inc FS‐soc $2,829.00 $2,829.00 $2,829.00 $2,886.00
Cabrillo Stroke and Disability Learning Center HC‐hss $7,027.00 $7,027.00 $7,027.00 $7,168.00
Campus Kids Connection, Inc. ED‐ece $17,331.00 $17,331.00 $15,331.00 $15,638.00
Central Coast Center for Independent Living FS‐srv $9,897.00 $9,897.00 $9,897.00 $10,095.00
Community Action Board of Santa Cruz County, Inc. $1,351.00 $1,351.00 $1,351.00 $1,378.00
  The Shelter Project BN‐hsg $1,351.00 $1,351.00 $1,351.00 $1,378.00
Community Bridges $111,102.00 $111,102.00 $111,102.00 $113,324.00
  Meals on Wheels for Santa Cruz County BN‐food $58,164.00 $58,164.00 $58,164.00 $59,327.00
  Lift Line BN‐trn $46,994.00 $46,994.00 $46,994.00 $47,934.00
  Live Oak Community Resources FS‐srv $5,037.00 $5,037.00 $5,037.00 $5,138.00
  Child Development Division ED‐ece $907.00 $907.00 $907.00 $925.00
Conflict Resolution Center of Santa Cruz CD‐eng $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,215.00
Court Appointed Special Advocates of Santa Cruz County PS‐prev $3,107.00 $3,107.00 $3,107.00 $3,169.00
Cultural Council of Santa Cruz County FS‐soc $977.00 $977.00 $977.00 $997.00
Dientes Community Dental Care HC‐den $1,375.00 $1,375.00 $1,375.00 $1,403.00
Encompass Community Services $14,601.00 $14,601.00 $14,601.00 $14,893.00
  Youth Services Counseling MH‐out $7,162.00 $7,162.00 $7,162.00 $7,305.00
  Santa Cruz AIDS Project FS‐srv $7,439.00 $7,439.00 $7,439.00 $7,588.00
Families In Transition BN‐hsg $2,472.00 $2,472.00 $2,472.00 $2,521.00
Family Service Agency of the Central Coast $11,531.00 $11,531.00 $11,531.00 $11,761.00
  Counseling ‐ North County MH‐out $4,807.00 $4,807.00 $4,807.00 $4,903.00
  I‐You Venture MH‐mhs $1,372.00 $1,372.00 $1,372.00 $1,399.00
  Senior Outreach MH‐mhs $1,372.00 $1,372.00 $1,372.00 $1,399.00
  Suicide Prevention MH‐mhs $1,192.00 $1,192.00 $1,192.00 $1,216.00
  Survivors Healing Center MH‐out $482.00 $482.00 $482.00 $492.00
  WomenCARE MH‐mhs $2,306.00 $2,306.00 $2,306.00 $2,352.00
Grey Bears BN‐food $14,573.00 $14,573.00 $14,573.00 $14,864.00
Homeless Services Center $2,627.00 $2,627.00 $2,627.00 $2,680.00
  Paul Lee Loft Shelter BN‐hsg $2,627.00 $2,627.00 $2,627.00 $2,680.00
Hospice of Santa Cruz County HC‐spec $1,576.00 $1,576.00 $1,576.00 $1,608.00
Monarch Services Servicios Monarca JS‐cip $3,723.00 $3,723.00 $3,723.00 $3,797.00
Native Animal Rescue EQ‐pro $1,176.00 $1,176.00 $1,176.00 $1,200.00
O'Neill Sea Odyssey EQ‐edu $2,885.00 $2,885.00 $2,885.00 $2,943.00
Parents Center Santa Cruz MH‐out $7,373.00 $7,373.00 $6,373.00 $6,500.00
Santa Cruz Toddler Care Center ED‐ece $1,224.00 $1,224.00 $1,224.00 $1,248.00
Second Harvest Food Bank Santa Cruz County BN‐food $10,250.00 $10,250.00 $10,250.00 $10,455.00
Senior Citizens Legal Services LS‐rep $10,163.00 $10,163.00 $8,663.00 $8,836.00
Senior Network Services, Inc. FS‐srv $2,513.00 $2,513.00 $2,513.00 $2,563.00

FY 15/16 Funding

10.B
.1

P
acket P

g
. 113

Attachment: Fiscal Year 2016-2018 Subcommittee Recommendations  (1561 : Community Grants)



Seniors Council of Santa Cruz and San Benito Counties $3,370.00 $8,370.00 $3,370.00 $3,437.00
  Project Scout IN‐inc $3,370.00 $3,370.00 $3,370.00 $3,437.00
  Companion for Life/Lifeline BN‐hsg $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,100.00
The Diversity Center HC‐hss $1,051.00 $1,051.00 $1,051.00 $1,072.00
United Way $7,300.00 $7,300.00 $7,300.00 $7,446.00
  Child Abuse Prevention PS‐intv $6,343.00 $6,343.00 $6,343.00 $6,470.00
  2‐1‐1 Help Line FS‐srv $957.00 $957.00 $957.00 $976.00
Vista Center for the Blind and Visually Impaired HC‐reh $1,861.00 $1,861.00 $1,861.00 $1,898.00
Volunteer Center $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,215.00
  Santa Cruz Center BN‐hsg $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,152.00 $3,215.00
TOTALS $277,316.00  $274,098.00  $269,598.00  $274,990.00 

10.B
.1

P
acket P

g
. 114

Attachment: Fiscal Year 2016-2018 Subcommittee Recommendations  (1561 : Community Grants)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF AUGUST 25, 2016

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Introduction of an Ordinance Amending Title 8 of the Capitola Municipal Code by 
adding Chapter 8.40 Pertaining to Extended Producer Responsibility for the 
Responsible and Safe Collection of Unwanted Pharmaceuticals and Spent 
Hypodermic Needles (Sharps) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Introduce an Ordinance.

BACKGROUND: Since 2008, the City of Capitola has participated in a voluntary publically 
funded collection program for unwanted pharmaceutical products. Under the existing program, 
there are four locations within the City of Capitola to dispose of unwanted pharmaceuticals and 
sharps. This program is currently managed by the County of Santa Cruz; the City of Capitola 
pays to County to administer the program within the City. Over the last several years the City 
has worked with the County and the other cities to establish a new convenient and permanent 
system to collect unwanted pharmaceuticals.

In 2012, Alameda County became the first local government in the United States to pass an 
ordinance requiring pharmaceutical companies to design, fund, and operate a program to safely 
collect and dispose of unwanted drugs. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal rejected a legal 
challenge to Alameda County's Ordinance brought by pharmaceutical trade associations and 
the U.S. Supreme Court subsequently declined to hear an appeal of this ruling.

On December 8, 2015, the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors passed an ordinance 
requiring the safe disposal of drugs and sharps and establishing a Product Stewardship 
Program to safely collect and dispose of unused/unwanted pharmaceutical and sharps waste 
from County residents. This program will no longer be managed by the County of Santa Cruz or 
funded from public sources; the new program will be run as a manufacturer and/or producer 
funded program.

The proposed Ordinance is intended to compliment and be consistent with Santa Cruz County’s 
Safe Disposal of Drugs and Sharps Ordinance (Santa Cruz County Code Chapter 7.95).

DISCUSSION: Should the City Council adopt this Ordinance to enact Extended Producer 
Responsibility (EPR) for pharmaceuticals and hypodermic syringes in Capitola, the City will 
enter a partnership agreement with the California Product Stewardship Council (CPSC). This 
will shift the City’s current system from a government-funded program for the diversion of 

10.C

Packet Pg. 115



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

unused pharmaceuticals and discarded syringes to one that relies on producer responsibility. 
The larger outcome of programs like this may help drive improvements in product design that 
promote environmental sustainability. 

Staff believes there are currently five retailers within the City who would be affected by the 
proposed Ordinance.  Staff will reach out to each retailer to make them aware of the new 
requirements the Ordinance.   At this time, only one of these retailers does not already 
participate in the voluntary program.

The need to adopt an EPR Ordinance to manage the safe and responsible disposal of 
unwanted pharmaceuticals and sharps is predicated upon the following:

 The growing awareness that traditional environmental protection policies focused solely 
on pharmaceutical and sharps production practices may no longer be adequate to 
protect the environment and the public health;

 The recognition of the shared responsibility of the producer at the post-consumer stage 
of their products life cycle; 

 The currently limited participation of commercial producers in the costs of responsible 
disposal of the products at the post-consumer stages of the product’s life-cycle;

 The damaging environmental consequences of unwanted pharmaceuticals in ground 
water, wastewater and drinking water sources in Capitola;

 The public health consequences of sharps in public spaces.

 The consequences of unwanted pharmaceuticals and sharps ending up in the solid 
waste stream and the hazards to those working in public sanitation.

The Ordinance is lengthy, so staff has summarized the noteworthy components:

Pharmaceutical and Sharps Producers and Retailers Requirements
 All drug producers must participate in a Product Stewardship Program, which in 

summary, means they must design, fund and operate in their own or joint program to 
safely collect and dispose of unwanted drugs and sharps.

 They must develop stewardship plans to ensure they comply with the above 
requirements, and submit their plans to the City for review and approval. 

 Producers must submit an annual report to the City and revise their stewardship plans 
every three years.  

 Producers must promote their plan to pharmacists, retailers of their products, health care 
providers and doctors and other prescribers of their products as the safe and proper 
method to store and dispose of unwanted products.

 Product retailers must provide a safe and convenient collection system for consumers’ 
unwanted or spent products, either an on-site sharps and drugs collection system or 
mail-collection system.

 Sharps disposal containers will be required with all local sales of hypodermic needles.

 Producers and retailers are responsible for all costs of their programs.

10.C

Packet Pg. 116



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

City Role
 The City will be responsible for conducting a producer outreach and education program 

(an existing function that supports the current non-mandatory take-back program) and 
reviewing Product Stewardship Plans submitted by participating producers and retailers.

 Administrative fees will be assessed to all product manufacturers, and levied through the 
California Product Stewardship Council, in which the City would be a participant.

 Producers and local retailers of these products will have six months to become 
compliant and must provide an annual compliance report to the City annually.

Enforcement and Penalties
 The ordinance will be enforced under Federal Code Title 4, with support as needed by 

the City’s Environmental Compliance program.

 Non-compliant manufacturers and retailers will have their businesses published in the 
Federal Government’s Significant Non-Compliance (SNC) list.

 Producers and local retailers are prohibited from charging consumers at point of sale or 
collection to recoup the cost of the Product Stewardship Program.

 It is estimated that the City has five retailers of products that would be subject to the 
terms of this ordinance.

FISCAL IMPACT: Currently the City pays the County $5,000 annually for participation in the 
County run plan. The City would no longer pay this amount, however it is expected that there 
will be more staff time involved in the new program. It is anticipated the staff time required will 
be reduced after the initial implementation.

Report Prepared By:  Larry Laurent
Assistant to the City Manager

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

10.C

Packet Pg. 117



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

DRAFT ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA ADDING CHAPTER 
8.40 TO TITLE 8 OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE

REQUIRING THE SAFE DISPOSAL OF DRUGS AND SHARPS

The City Council of the City of Capitola hereby finds and declares the following:

WHEREAS, drugs and sharps are necessary medical technologies which allow us to live 
longer, healthier and more productive lives and reduce suffering at the end of life; and

WHEREAS, the public, particularly children, the elderly and public employees, are at 
significant and unnecessary risk of poisoning and injury due to improper or careless disposal of 
drugs and sharps; and

WHEREAS, our groundwater and drinking water are being contaminated by unwanted, 
leftover or expired drugs passing through our wastewater treatment centers; and

WHEREAS, there is no mandatory statewide stewardship program for unwanted drugs 
or sharps in California, and manufacturers, retailers and producers have not offered any support 
for a permanent collection program to date; and

WHEREAS, although state law (California Health and Safety Code Section 118286) 
requires that home-generated sharps be transported to a collection center in sharps containers 
or other containers authorized by the local enforcement agency, and prohibits the loose disposal 
of home-generated sharps waste in trash or recycling containers, many people continue to 
dispose of contaminated sharps in a manner that increases the risk that others will come into 
contact with them; and

WHEREAS, the lack of sufficient safe, convenient disposal locations for leftover, 
expired, and/or unwanted drugs creates significant risks to human health and to the 
environment. As a result, leftover, expired, and/or unwanted drugs are often left in homes where 
they can be accidentally ingested or abused by children, adults, and the elderly, increasing the 
risk of poisoning, addiction, and death; and

WHEREAS, unwanted drugs are also often flushed down toilets or sinks. However, 
municipal wastewater treatment plants are not designed to remove the complex compounds in 
the drugs that end up in the sewer system. As a result, drugs can pass through wastewater 
treatment systems and contaminate receiving waters; and

WHEREAS, an Environmental Protection Agency report on drinking water released in 
December 2013 tested effluent samples from 50 large wastewater treatment plants nationwide 
for active pharmaceutical ingredients and metabolites. Out of the 63 total compounds tested for, 
43 were detected in at least one of the samples and all samples were found to contain at least 
one pharmaceutical compound. The presence of pharmaceuticals in surface water is well 
documented to have ecological impacts, including negative effects on fish and other aquatic life; 
and

10.C

Packet Pg. 118



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

WHEREAS, establishing a safe, convenient collection and disposal system for leftover, 
expired, and unwanted drugs will reduce unintentional poisonings and drug overdose deaths by 
making drugs less accessible to persons who might accidentally ingest or abuse them; and

WHEREAS, establishing a safe, convenient collection and disposal system for leftover, 
expired, and unwanted drugs will also reduce the quantity of pharmaceutical compounds that 
are discharged into the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary and other environmentally 
sensitive waters throughout the City; and

WHEREAS, Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) laws, sometimes referred to as 
Product Stewardship laws, place responsibility for end-of-life management of consumer 
products on the manufacturers and producers of the products, while encouraging product 
design that minimizes negative impacts on human health and the environment at every stage of 
the product's lifecycle; and

WHEREAS, many local and national governmental bodies support EPR, including 
CalRecycle (formerly the California Integrated Waste Management Board), the National 
Association of Counties, and the National League of Cities; and

WHEREAS, California has passed four significant products stewardship laws for 
mercury thermostats (AB 2347, enacted as Chapter 572 of the statutes of 2008), carpet (AB 
2398, enacted as Chapter 681 of the statutes of 2010), paint (AB 1343, enacted as Chapter 420 
of the statutes of 2010) and mattresses (SB 254, enacted as Chapter 388 of the statues of 
2013).  All four laws require producers to establish and fund product stewardship programs for 
their waste streams; and

WHEREAS, in 2010, Congress passed the "Secure and Responsible Drug Disposal Act 
of 2010," Public Law No. 111-273, which authorized the Attorney General to expand the 
methods through which pharmaceuticals classified as controlled substances may be collected, 
including through collection at pharmacies. The goal of the bill was to increase opportunities for 
drug collection in order to reduce substance abuse, accidental poisoning, and the release of 
harmful substances into the environment. On October 9, 2014, the Drug Enforcement Agency 
promulgated regulations implementing that Act. These regulations, among other things, 
authorize retail pharmacies to maintain secure collection bins for controlled substances; and

WHEREAS, Mexico, a number of Canadian provinces, much of Europe and several 
other countries already have active, well-established EPR drug disposal programs in place. 
Many of the same drug companies that participate in these programs manufacture drugs sold in 
the United States; and

WHEREAS, in 2012, Alameda County became the first local government in the United 
States to pass legislation requiring pharmaceutical companies to design, fund, and operate a 
program to safely collect and dispose of unwanted drugs, similar to the take-back programs in 
Canada's pharmacies. On September 30, 2014, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal rejected a 
legal challenge to Alameda County's Ordinance brought by pharmaceutical trade associations. 
Pharm. Research & lvlfrs. Of Am. v. Cty. of Alameda, 13~16833, 768 F.3d1037 (9th Cir. 2014).  
The U.S. Supreme Court subsequently declined to hear an appeal of this ruling; and

WHEREAS, King County, Washington as well as the City and County of San Francisco 
and the Counties of Santa Cruz, San Mateo, Santa Clara, San Luis Obispo and Marin have 

10.C

Packet Pg. 119



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

enacted similar ordinances requiring drug manufacturers to design, fund, and operate programs 
to safely collect and dispose of local residents' unwanted drugs and/or sharps; and

WHEREAS, beginning in 2008, the County of Santa Cruz has operated a voluntary 
County-funded collection program, pursuant to which the County of Santa Cruz and the City 
have been working together with the cities of Watsonville, Santa Cruz and Scotts Valley to 
provide a convenient and permanent system to collect unwanted pharmaceuticals. As of 
October 2015, this program consists of 46 locations at pharmacies, police departments, and 
sheriff’s stations, which collect both controlled and non-controlled substances, as well as city 
and county household hazardous waste disposal sites. Participation in collection and disposal of 
unwanted drugs is still voluntary, resulting in a patchwork of businesses participating in one or 
both programs, leading to confusion among consumers and sometimes improper disposal in the 
wrong containers; and

WHEREAS, on December 8, 2015, the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors passed 
an Ordinance (Ordinance No. 5214, effective the 31st day after the date of final passage) 
requiring the safe disposal of drugs and sharps and establishing a Product Stewardship 
Program to safely collect and dispose of unused/unwanted pharmaceutical and sharps waste 
from county residents. This City Ordinance is intended to compliment and be consistent with 
Santa Cruz County’s Safe Disposal of Drugs and Sharps Ordinance (Santa Cruz County Code 
Chapter 7.95); and

WHEREAS, a manufacturer and/or producer-funded collection and disposal program in 
the City for unwanted drugs and sharps would significantly increase convenient disposal options 
for City residents' unwanted drugs and sharps, enabling collection of larger quantities of 
unwanted drugs and sharps and reducing risks to public safety, health, and the environment.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AS FOLLOWS:
SECTION I

The Capitola Municipal Code is hereby amended by adding Chapter 8.40 to read as follows:

Chapter 8.40 CAPITOLA SAFE DRUG AND SHARPS DISPOSAL

Sections:
8.40.010 Purpose and Intent
8.40.020 Title
8.40.030 Definitions
8.40.040 Product Stewardship Program
8.40.050 Product Stewardship Plan
8.40.060 Disposal of Unwanted Products
8.40.070 Product Stewardship Program Promotion and Outreach
8.40.080 Retailer and Provider Participation

8.40.090 Lists of Producers and Manufacturers of Covered Drugs and Sharps
8.40.100 Reporting.

8.40.110 Program Assessment and Collection of Data
8.40.120 List of Producers
8.40.130 Regulations and Fees
8.40.140 Enforcement

8.40.150 Additional Provisions

10.C

Packet Pg. 120



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

8.40.010 Purpose and Intent
The purpose of this chapter is to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public and of the 
environment by providing for the safe and orderly collection and disposal of drug and sharps 
waste and by placing responsibility for end-of-life management of drug and sharps products on 
the manufacturers and/or producers of the products, while encouraging product design that 
minimizes negative impacts on human health and the environment at every stage of the 
product's lifecycle. This chapter is intended to be consistent with the Santa Cruz County Safe 
Drug and Sharps Disposal Ordinance.

8.40.020 Title
This chapter may be cited as the "Capitola Safe Drug and Sharps Disposal Ordinance."

8.40.030 Definitions
For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms have the meanings given below.

A. “City Council” refers to the City Council of the City of Capitola.

B. “City” means the City of Capitola, California.

C. “Consumer Generators” means residents of single and multiple family residences or 
other locations who possess, dispose of and/or abandon household Covered Drugs or 
Sharps. "Consumer Generators" does not include airport security, drug seizures by law 
enforcement, pharmacy waste, business waste, or any other source identified by the 
Department as a non-consumer source.

D. “Controlled Substance” for purposes of this section shall mean any substance listed 
under California Health and Safety Code Sections 11053 through 11058 and/or Title 21 
of the United States Code, Sections 812 and 813 or any successor legislation.

E. “Cosmetics” means (i) articles intended to be rubbed, poured, sprinkled, or sprayed on, 
introduced into, or otherwise applied to, the human body, or any part thereof for 
cleansing, beautifying, promoting attractiveness, or altering the appearance, and (ii) 
articles intended for use as a component of any such articles.

F. “Covered Drug” means all brand name and Generic Prescription Drugs.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing sentence, “Covered Drug” does not include: (i) vitamins or supplements; 
(ii) herbal-based remedies and homeopathic drugs, products, or remedies; (iii) 
Cosmetics, soap (with or without germicidal agents), laundry detergent, bleach, 
household cleaning products, shampoos, sunscreens, toothpaste, lip balm, 
antiperspirants, or other personal care products that are regulated as Cosmetics under 
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ("FFDCA") (21 U.S.C. Section 301 et seq. 
(2002)); (iv) Drugs for which Producers provide a take-back program as part of a Federal 
Food and Drug Administration managed risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (21 
U.S.C. Section 355-1); (v) Drugs that are biological products as defined by 21 C.F.R. 
600.3(h) as it exists on the effective date of this chapter if the Producer already provides 

10.C

Packet Pg. 121



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

a take-back program; and (vi) pet pesticide products contained in pet collars, powders, 
shampoos, topical applications, or other delivery systems.

G. “County” means the County of Santa Cruz, California.

H. “Department” means the City of Capitola City’s Manager’s Department.

I. “City Manager” means the City of Capitola City Manager or his or her designee.

J. “Drug Wholesaler” means a Person that sells or distributes Covered Drugs for resale to 
an Entity other than a consumer.

K. “Drugs” means: (i) articles recognized in the official United States Pharmacopoeia, the 
official National Formulary, the official Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United 
States, or any supplement to any of them; (ii) articles intended for use in the diagnosis, 
cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in humans or other animals; (iii) 
articles, other than food, intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of 
humans or other animals; and (iv) articles intended for use as a component of any article 
specified in clause (i), (ii), or (iii) of this definition. Notwithstanding the foregoing 
sentence, “Drugs” does not include or mean medical devices, their component parts or 
accessories.

L. “Entity” means a Person other than an individual.

M. “Generic” means a Drug that is chemically identical or bioequivalent to a brand name 
Drug in dosage form, safety, strength, route of administration, quality, performance 
characteristics, and intended use, though inactive ingredients may vary.

N. “Hazardous Waste” means a “hazardous waste” as defined in the Federal Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976, as amended (42 USCA § 6901 et seq.) 
and the implementing regulations (40 C.F.R. §§239 through 282), as amended.  This 
waste includes, but is not limited to, bulk chemotherapy drugs, P-listed waste, U-listed 
waste and characteristic hazardous waste.

O. “Manufacture” means the production, preparation, propagation, compounding, or 
processing of Covered Drugs or Sharps but does not include the activities of a 
Repackager, Drug Wholesaler or medical practitioner who distributes or dispenses such 
substances or devices in the ordinary course of his or her professional practice or 
prepares, compounds, packages or labels such substances or devices.

P. “Manufacturer” means a Person engaged in the Manufacture of Covered Drugs or 
Sharps.

Q. “Mail-back Program” means a system whereby Consumer Generators of Unwanted 
Products obtain prepaid and preaddressed mailing envelopes in which to place 
Unwanted Products for shipment to an Entity that will dispose of them safely and legally.

R. “Medical Waste” means “Medical waste” as defined in Section 117690 of the California 
Health and Safety Code, as amended.

10.C

Packet Pg. 122



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

S. “Person” means an individual, firm, sole proprietorship, corporation, limited liability 
company, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, 
association, cooperative, or other entity of any kind or nature, however organized.

T. “Pharmacy” means a place licensed by the State of California Board of Pharmacy where 
the practice of pharmacy is conducted.

U. “Plan” or “Product Stewardship Plan” means a product stewardship plan required under 
this chapter that describes the manner in which a Product Stewardship Program will be 
provided.

V. “Plan Operator” means the Person that develops, implements and operates a Product 
Stewardship Plan, including but not limited to a Producer or Stewardship Organization.

W. “Prescription Drug” means any Drug, including, but not limited to, any Controlled 
Substance, that is required by federal or state law, rule or regulation to be dispensed by 
prescription only or is restricted to use by practitioners only.

X. “Producer” shall be determined, with regard to Covered Drugs and Sharps that are sold, 
offered for sale, or distributed in the City as meaning one of the following:

1. The Person who Manufactures Covered Drugs or Sharps and who sells, offers for sale, 
or distributes Covered Drugs or Sharps in the City under that Person's own name or 
brand.

2. If there is no Person who sells, offers for sale, or distributes Covered Drugs or Sharps in 
the City under the Person's own name or brand, the Producer of Covered Drugs or 
Sharps is the owner or licensee of a trademark or brand under which the Covered Drugs 
or Sharps are sold or distributed in the City, whether or not the trademark is registered.

3. If there is no Person who is a Producer of Covered Drugs or Sharps for purposes of 
paragraphs (1) and (2), the Producer of Covered Drugs or Sharps is the Person who 
brings the Covered Drug into the City for sale or distribution.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Producer” does not include: (i) a Retailer or Repackager 
that only puts its label on a Covered Drug or Sharps; (ii) a pharmacist who dispenses 
Prescription Drugs to, or repackages or compounds a prescribed individual Drug product 
for a consumer; or (iii) a Drug Wholesaler who is not also a Manufacturer.

Y. “Product Stewardship Program" or "Program" means a program financed, developed, 
implemented, and operated by Producers to collect, transport, and dispose of Unwanted 
Products.

Z. “Provider” means any Person that sells or otherwise furnishes Covered Drugs or Sharps 
to consumers at a medical or veterinary office, clinic, hospital or approved needle-
exchange program located in the City.

AA. “Public Hearing” means any hearing held by the Department or the City which is open to 
the public for the purposes of collecting public comment.  It does not necessarily refer to 
meetings of the City Council.

10.C

Packet Pg. 123



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

BB. “Repackager” means a Person who owns or operates an establishment that repacks, 
repackages, and/or re-labels a product or package (including a Covered Drug and/or 
Sharps) for further sale or for distribution without a further transaction.

CC. “Retailer” means any Person that sells Covered Drugs or Sharps directly to consumers 
at a business located in the City.

DD. “Santa Cruz County Safe Drug and Sharps Disposal Ordinance” refers to Chapter 7.95 
of the Santa Cruz County Municipal Code, entitled “, Santa Cruz County Safe Drug and 
Sharps Disposal”, as such may be amended. 

EE. “Sharps” means one or more hypodermic needles, pen needles, intravenous needles, 
lancets and other devices used to penetrate the skin for drawing blood, or for the 
delivery of medications or Drugs. 

FF. “Stewardship Organization” means an organization designated by a group of Producers 
to act as an agent on behalf of each Producers to operate a Product Stewardship 
Program.

GG. “Unwanted Products” means Covered Drugs or Sharps no longer wanted by the owner 
or that have been abandoned, discarded, or are intended to be discarded by the owner.

8.40.040 Product Stewardship Program
A. Requirement for Sale. This chapter shall apply only to Producers whose Covered Drugs 

and/or Sharps are sold and/or distributed in the City and to Retailers who sell Covered 
Drugs and/or Sharps in the City. This chapter shall apply only to areas within the City 
limits. This chapter shall be administered and implemented by the City of Capitola City 
Manager’s Department. Each Producer shall participate in a Stewardship Program.  
Each Producer must:

1. Operate, individually or jointly with other Producers, a Product Stewardship Program 
approved by the Department; or

2. Enter into an agreement with a Stewardship Organization to operate, on the Producer's 
behalf, a Product Stewardship Program approved by the Department.

B. Product Stewardship Program Costs.

1. A Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization must pay all 
administrative and operational fees and costs associated with their Product 
Stewardship Program and related Product Stewardship Plan, including, but not 
limited to, the cost of collecting, transporting, and disposing of Unwanted 
Products collected from Consumer Generators and the recycling and/or disposal 
of packaging collected with the Unwanted Product.  

2. No Person or Producer may charge a specific point-of-sale fee to consumers to 
recoup the costs of their Product Stewardship Program, nor may they charge a 
specific point-of-collection fee at the time the Unwanted Products are collected 
from Consumer Generators or delivered for disposal.

10.C

Packet Pg. 124



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

3. A Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization must pay all costs 
and expenses incurred by the City, including but not limited to the Department, in 
the administration and enforcement of their Product Stewardship Program. 
Exclusive of fines and penalties, the City shall only recover its actual costs of 
administration and enforcement under this chapter and shall not charge any 
amounts under this chapter in excess of its actual administrative and 
enforcement costs.

4. A Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization must pay all 
collection and disposal costs and expenses as of the date that the ordinance 
codified in this chapter becomes effective.  If the City incurs any costs or 
expenses due to delays in establishment of an approved Stewardship Plan, the 
Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization must reimburse the 
City in full for such costs.

8.40.050 Product Stewardship Plan
A. Plan Content. Each Product Stewardship Program shall have a Product Stewardship 

Plan (which must be submitted, reviewed and approved in accordance with Section 
8.40.050(B) below) that contains each of the following:

1. Certification that the Product Stewardship Program will accept all Unwanted 
Products regardless of who produced them, unless excused from this 
requirement by the Department as part of the approval of the Plan;

2. Contact information (including the name, physical and mailing address, 
telephone number, and email address) for the individual and the Entity submitting 
the Plan, the Plan Operator, and each of the Producers participating in the 
Product Stewardship Program;

3. A description of the methods by which Unwanted Products from Consumer 
Generators will be collected and handled at all retail sale facilities of Sharps and 
Covered Drugs in the City, including without limitation a description of bins to be 
used and collection methods;

4. A description of the methods by which Unwanted Products from Consumer 
Generators will be collected and handled at all public health facilities in the City, 
as well as at such other locations as designated by the Department, including 
without limitation a description of bins to be used and collection methods;

5. The location of each collection site and locations where envelopes for a Mail-
back Program are available (if applicable);

6. A list containing the name, location, permit status, and record of any penalties, 
violations, and/or regulatory orders received in the previous five years by each 
Person that will be involved in collecting and/or transporting Unwanted Products 
and each Medical Waste or Hazardous Waste disposal facility proposed to 
participate in the Product Stewardship Program;

10.C

Packet Pg. 125



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

7. A description of how the Unwanted Products will be safely and securely tracked 
and handled from collection through final disposal and the policies and 
procedures to be followed to ensure security;

8. A description of the public education and outreach activities required under this 
chapter and how their effectiveness will be evaluated;

9. A description of how the scope and extent of the Product Stewardship Program 
are reasonably related to the amount of Covered Drugs and Sharps that are sold 
in the City, by the Producer or group of Producers;

10. A starting date when collection of Unwanted Products will begin;

11. A description of how support will be provided to any law enforcement agencies 
within the City that have, or later agree to have, a collection program for 
Controlled Substances, including, without limitation: (i) the provision of a 
collection kiosk with appropriate accessories and signage, (ii) an ability to accept 
Controlled Substances and other Covered Drugs, and (iii) technical support up to 
and including an appropriate Person to provide on-site assistance with the 
sorting and separation of Controlled Substances at no cost to a participating law 
enforcement agency;

12. If more than one Producer will be involved in a proposed Product Stewardship 
Program, then the Product Stewardship Plan for that Program must include a fair 
and reasonable manner for allocating the costs of the Program among the 
participants in that Program, such that the portion of costs paid by each Producer 
is reasonably related to the amount of Covered Drugs and Sharps that Producer 
sells in the City.

B. Existing County-Approved Product Stewardship Plan.  If a Producer, group of Producers, 
or Stewardship Organization is/are operating a Product Stewardship Program within the 
County under an existing Product Stewardship Plan that has been approved by the 
County of Santa Cruz in accordance with Chapter 7.95 of the Santa Cruz County Code 
(“County-Approved Plan”), such Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship 
Organization may comply with Section 8.40.050(A) above, by supplementing such 
County-Approved Plan to cover the City and include all items listed in Section 
8.40.050(A) above.  The Product Stewardship Plan, as supplemented, must be 
submitted to the Department for review and approval of the provisions relating to and/or 
applicable to the City in accordance with Section 8.40.050(D) below. 

C. Department Review and Approval; Updates.

1. No Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization within the City 
may begin collecting Unwanted Products to comply with this chapter until it has 
received written approval of its Product Stewardship Plan from the Department. 
The City may (in its discretion) continue collection on an interim basis if there is 
any delay in establishing a Stewardship Program as required under this chapter.  
Once approved by the Department, each Product Stewardship Plan must receive 
prior written approval from the Department for any proposed changes to the Plan.

10.C

Packet Pg. 126



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

2. All Product Stewardship Plans must be submitted to the Department for approval. 
Each Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization operating a 
Product Stewardship Program shall submit its initial Product Stewardship Plan 
(conforming to the above requirements) to the Department for review within sixty 
(60) days after the effective date of this chapter, or at a later date as approved in 
writing by the Department.

3. Within sixty (60) days after the Department’s receipt and review of a Product 
Stewardship Plan, the Department will determine whether the Plan complies with 
the requirements of this chapter and of any regulations adopted pursuant to this 
chapter.  The Department may at its sole discretion conduct a noticed Public 
Hearing as part of this process.

a. As part of its approval, the Department may set reasonable performance 
goals for the Program.

b. If the Department approves a Plan, it shall notify the applicant of its 
approval in writing.

c. If the Department rejects a Plan, it shall notify the applicant in writing of its 
reasons for rejecting the Plan.  The Department may reject a Plan without 
conducting a Public Hearing.

d. An applicant whose Plan has been rejected by the Department must 
submit a revised Plan to the Department within thirty (30) days after 
receiving notice of the rejection. The Department may require the 
submission of a further revised Plan or, at its sole discretion, the 
Department may (without any obligation to do so) develop, approve and 
impose upon the applicant the Department’s own Product Stewardship 
Plan or an approved Plan submitted by other Producer(s) pursuant to this 
chapter. The imposed Plan will be presented at a Public Hearing. The 
Department is not required, and nothing in this chapter shall be 
interpreted as requiring, the Department to create or impose a Product 
Stewardship Plan.

e. If the Department rejects a revised Product Stewardship Plan or any other 
subsequently revised Plan, the City Manager may deem the Producer(s) 
at issue to be out of compliance with this chapter and subject to the 
enforcement provisions contained in this chapter. 

4. At least every three (3) years, a Producer, group of Producers or Stewardship 
Organization operating a Product Stewardship Program shall update its Product 
Stewardship Plan, explaining any substantive changes to components of the 
Plan, and submit the updated Plan to the Department for review and approval.  

5. A Producer who begins to offer a Covered Drug or Sharps for sale in the City 
after the effective date of this chapter, must submit a Product Stewardship Plan 
to the Department or provide evidence of having joined an existing approved 
Product Stewardship Program within sixty (60) days following the Producer's 
initial offer for sale of a Covered Drug or Sharp in the City.

10.C

Packet Pg. 127



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

6. Any proposed changes to a Product Stewardship Plan must be submitted in 
writing to the Department and approved by the Department in writing prior to 
implementation of any change. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for County-
Approved Plans, only those changes relating to and/or applicable to the City 
must be submitted in writing to the Department for review and approval before 
implementation.  

7. Required Plan Amendment. Within 60 days of the final promulgation of rules by 
the California Board of Pharmacy regarding collection of controlled substances 
by retail pharmacies in conformity with the U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency 
regulations implementing the Secure and Responsible Drug Disposal Act of 
2010, each Producer, group of Producers or Stewardship Organization operating 
a Product Stewardship Program shall submit to the Department for review and 
approval an update to its Product Stewardship Plan that describes how the Plan 
will, within  120 days, comply with and conform to the requirements of such final 
rules of the California Board of Pharmacy.

8. The Department may audit the records of a Producer, group of Producers, or 
Stewardship Organization related to a Product Stewardship Plan and/or Product 
Stewardship Program, or request that the Producer, group of Producers, or 
Stewardship Organization arrange for the Department to inspect at reasonable 
times the facilities, vehicles, and equipment used in carrying out the Product 
Stewardship Plan. 

8.40.060 Disposal of Unwanted Products
A. Compliance with Applicable Law. Each Product Stewardship Program must comply with 

all local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to its operations, including, 
but not limited to, laws, rules, and regulations governing the treatment and disposal of 
Unwanted Products.

B. Treatment and Disposal. Each Product Stewardship Program must treat Sharps waste 
by high heat sterilization and dispose of all unwanted Covered Drugs by incineration at a 
Medical Waste or Hazardous Waste facility authorized to accept such waste. Each 
treatment and/or disposal facility utilized must be in possession of all required regulatory 
permits and licenses.

C. New Technologies. Producers with Product Stewardship Programs may petition the 
Department for approval to use treatment and final disposal technologies, where lawful, 
that provide superior environmental and human health protection than provided by 
current Medical Waste or Hazardous Waste disposal technologies for Sharps and 
Covered Drugs if and when those technologies are proven and available. The proposed 
technology, at a minimum, must provide equivalent protection in each, and superior 
protection in one or more, of the following areas:

1. Monitoring of any emissions or waste;
2. Worker health and safety;
3. Reduction or elimination of air, water, or land emissions contributing to 

persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic pollution; and
4. Overall impact on the environment and human health.

10.C

Packet Pg. 128



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

D. Packaging Separation. Each Product Stewardship Program shall encourage Consumer 
Generators to separate Unwanted Products from their original containers and packaging, 
when appropriate, prior to collection or disposal.

8.40.070 Product Stewardship Program Promotion and Outreach
A. A Product Stewardship Program must promote the Program to Consumer Generators, 

pharmacists, Retailers of Covered Drugs and/or Sharps, and health care practitioners 
(including, but not limited to, doctors and other prescribers, veterinarians and veterinary 
hospitals) as to the proper and safe method to storage and dispose of Unwanted 
Products.

B. A Product Stewardship Program shall include, but is not limited to, developing, and 
updating as necessary, educational and other outreach materials for use by Retailers of 
Covered Drugs and/or Sharps. These materials may include, but are not limited to, two 
or more of the following:

1. Signage that is prominently displayed and easily visible to the consumer.

2. Written materials and templates of materials for reproduction by Retailers to be provided 
to the consumer at the time of purchase or delivery, or both.

3. Advertising and/or other promotional materials related to the Product Stewardship 
Program.

C. A Product Stewardship Program must prepare education and outreach materials that 
publicize the location and operation of collection locations in the City and disseminate 
the materials to health care facilities, Pharmacies, and other interested parties. The 
Program also must establish a website publicizing collection locations and Program 
operations and a toll-free telephone number that Consumer Generators can call to find 
nearby collection locations and understand how the Program works.

8.40.080 Retailer and Provider participation
A. Every Retailer and every Provider of Covered Drugs and Sharps in the City shall 

establish a system consistent with the requirements of this chapter for the collection of 
consumer-generated Covered Drugs and Sharps waste for proper disposal during the 
Retailer's or Provider's normal hours of operation, except that:

1. A Retailer or Provider who does not sell or provide Sharps to consumers is not 
required to establish a collection system for Sharps waste; and

2. A Retailer or Provider who does not sell or provide Covered Drugs to consumers 
is not required to establish a collection system for Covered Drugs waste.

B. Each system established by a Retailer or Provider for the collection and disposal of 
consumer generated Covered Drugs and Sharps waste shall include, at a minimum, the 
following elements:

1. Subject to the limitations contained in subsection (A) of this Section above and 
subsection (E) of this Section below, each Retailer or Provider shall provide one 
of the following:

10.C

Packet Pg. 129



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

a. On-site collection system. Receptacles for the collection of consumer-
generated Covered Drugs and Sharps waste within the Retailer or 
Provider establishment. The receptacle shall meet applicable state and 
federal standards for safe disposal of Covered Drugs and/or Sharps. The 
Retailer or Provider shall provide for the management and disposal of all 
consumer-generated Covered Drugs and/or Sharps waste that is 
collected at the Retailer or Provider establishment in a safe manner 
consistent with all state and federal laws and regulations; or

b. Mail-back collection system. Prepaid and preaddressed mail-back 
envelopes in sufficient capacity for safe disposal of the Covered Drugs 
and/or Sharps sold or provided to a consumer and meeting applicable 
state and federal standards for safe disposal of Covered Drugs and/or 
Sharps.

2. Signage prominently displayed within five feet of every public entrance to the 
Retailer or Provider establishment and easily visible to the consumer, indicating 
that the Retailer or Provider establishment collects consumer-generated Covered 
Drugs and/or Sharps waste from consumers.

C. A Retailer or Provider of Sharps must provide at no additional cost to the consumer an 
approved Sharps disposal container or containers sufficient to dispose of all Sharps 
purchased. A Retailer or Provider of Sharps may refuse to accept from a consumer 
Sharps waste that is not properly contained in an approved container. In the event of a 
refusal to accept Sharps waste, the Retailer or Provider shall provide the consumer with 
an appropriate container for proper disposal of said Sharps waste.

D. Sharps disposal containers shall be either a rigid puncture-resistant container with a 
sealable lid approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for the purpose of 
transporting Sharps for disposal or a pre-paid mail-back container approved by the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration for the purpose of transporting Sharps for disposal.

E. All costs of participation by Retailers and Providers shall be paid or reimbursed by the 
Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship Organization as part of its Program as 
provided in this chapter.  Retailers and Providers shall not be expected to incur any 
costs for participation in a Product Stewardship Program.

8.40.090 Lists of Producers and Manufacturers of Covered Drugs and Sharps
A. Within sixty (60) days after the effective date of this chapter (or at a later date as 

approved in writing by the Department), each Drug Wholesaler that sells any Covered 
Drugs and/or Sharps in the City must provide a list of the Producers of those Covered 
Drugs and/or Sharps to the Department in a form prescribed by the Department.  Drug 
Wholesalers must update and submit to the Department such list of Producers of 
Covered Drugs and/or Sharps by January 15th of each calendar year.

B. Within six (6) months after the effective date of this chapter, or within six (6) months after 
a Retailer whose label appears on a Covered Drug or Sharps or on the Covered Drug’s 
or Sharps’ packaging starts selling the Covered Drug or Sharps in the City (or at a later 
date as approved in writing by the Department), and, thereafter, upon request from the 

10.C

Packet Pg. 130



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

Department, a Retailer whose label appears on a Covered Drug or Sharps or on the 
Covered Drug’s or Sharps’ packaging must provide the contact information of the 
Manufacturer from whom the Retailer obtains the Covered Drug or Sharps, including the 
mailing address, physical address, telephone number, and email address of the 
Retailer’s point of contact at the Manufacturer.

C. Within six (6) months after the effective date of this chapter, or within six (6) months after 
a Covered Drug or Sharps repackaged by a Repackager is first sold in the City (or at a 
later date as approved in writing by the Department), and, thereafter, upon request from 
the Department, a Repackager whose label appears on a Covered Drug or Sharps or on 
the Covered Drug’s or Sharps’ packaging must provide the contact information of the 
Manufacturer from whom the Repackager obtains the Covered Drug or Sharps, including 
the mailing address, physical address, telephone number, and email address of the 
Repackager’s point of contact at the Manufacturer.

8.40.100 Reporting
A. On or before July 1, 2017 (or at a later date as approved in writing by the Department) 

and in each subsequent year, every Producer, group of Producers, or Stewardship 
Organization operating a Product Stewardship Program in the City must prepare and 
submit to the Department an annual written report describing the Program activities 
during the previous reporting period. The report must include, at minimum, the following:

1. A list of Producers participating in the Product Stewardship Program;

2. A list of Retailers and/or Providers participating in the collection of consumer-
generated Covered Drugs and/or Sharps waste;

3. The amount, by type and by weight, of Unwanted Products collected from 
Consumer Generators collected at each drop-off site and in the entire City and, if 
applicable, the total amount by type and by weight collected by a Mail-back 
Program;

4. A description of the collection system, including, without limitation, the location of 
each collection site and if applicable, locations where envelopes for a Mail-back 
Program are provided;

5. The name and location of disposal facilities at which Unwanted Products were 
disposed of and the weight by type of Unwanted Products collected from 
Consumer Generators disposed of at each facility;

6. Whether policies and procedures for collecting, handling, transporting, and 
disposing of Unwanted Products, as established in the Plan, were followed 
during the reporting period and a description of any noncompliance;

7. Whether any safety or security problems occurred during collection, handling, 
transportation, or disposal of Unwanted Products during the reporting period and, 
if so, what changes have or will be made to policies, procedures, or tracking 
mechanisms to alleviate the problem and to improve safety and security;

10.C

Packet Pg. 131



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

8. A description of public education and outreach activities implemented during the 
reporting period and their effectiveness, including, without limitation, the 
methodology used to evaluate the outreach and Program activities;

9. How the Product Stewardship Program complied with all other elements in the 
Product Stewardship Plan approved by the Department, including, without 
limitation, its degree of success in meeting any performance goals set by the 
Department as part of its approval of the Program; and

10. Any other information that the Department may reasonably require.

B. For the purposes of this section, "reporting period" means the period beginning January 
1 and ending December 31 of the same calendar year.

8.40.110 Program Assessment and Collection of Data
A. At least once per year, at a time to be determined by the Department, each Product 

Stewardship Program will conduct a detailed characterization study of Unwanted 
Products collected at specified locations to help assess effectiveness of the Product 
Stewardship Program

B. Assessments shall be conducted in a secure location with proper supervision, in full 
compliance with federal and state laws, rules, and regulations, and in accordance with 
guidelines issued by the Department.

C. Data collected from Program assessments shall be shared with the Department and 
other relevant agencies in a timely manner.

D. The Department may require additional assessments as needed to address problems or 
to help determine Program needs.  

8.40.120 List of Producers
The Department shall provide on its website a list of all Producers participating in Product 
Stewardship Programs approved by the Department and a list of all Producers the Department 
has identified as noncompliant with this chapter or any regulations adopted pursuant to this 
chapter.

8.40.130 Regulations and fees
A. The City Manager may, after a noticed Public Hearing, adopt such rules and regulations 

as necessary to implement, administer, and enforce this chapter.

B.  The City Council authorizes the City Manager to charge Producers or a group of Producers              
participating in a Product Stewardship Program for any costs the City incurs in 
administering and enforcing this chapter.  The amount charged shall not exceed actual 
costs to the City.

8.40.140 Enforcement
A. The Department shall administer the penalty provisions of this chapter.

10.C

Packet Pg. 132



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

B. It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with any of 
the requirements of this chapter. 

C. Any Person, Producer, Plan Operator or Product Stewardship Organization that violates 
or continues to violate the provisions of this chapter shall be subject to the penalties, 
remedies, and criminal, civil and/or administrative enforcement actions set forth in Title 4 
of the Capitola Municipal Code. Each and every day a violation of this chapter exists 
constitutes a separate and distinct offense for which enforcement action may be taken.

D. In determining the appropriate penalties, the Department shall consider the extent of 
harm caused by the violation, the nature and persistence of the violation, the frequency 
of past violations, any action taken to mitigate the violation, and the financial burden to 
the violator.

E. Whenever the City finds that a Person has violated a provision or failed to meet a 
requirement of this chapter, the City may order compliance by written notice of violation 
to the responsible Person pursuant to Chapter 4.10 of the Capitola Municipal Code.

F. The Department may establish appropriate administrative rules for implementing this 
chapter, conducting hearings, and rendering decisions pursuant to this section.

G. Upon the failure of any Person to comply with any requirement of this chapter and any 
rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter, the City Attorney’s office may petition 
any court having jurisdiction for injunctive relief, payment of civil penalties and any other 
appropriate remedy, including, without limitation, restraining such Person or Entity from 
continuing any prohibited activity and compelling compliance with lawful requirements. 
However, this subsection does not permit the City or any court of competent jurisdiction 
to restrain the sale of any Covered Drug or Sharps in the City.

H. Any Person who knowingly and willfully violates the requirements of this chapter or any 
rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor. A 
conviction for a misdemeanor violation under this chapter is punishable by a fine of not 
less than fifty dollars ($50.00) and not more than five hundred ($500.00) for each day 
per violation, or by imprisonment for a period not to exceed six (6) months, or by both 
such fine and imprisonment.

I. The remedies provided by this chapter are cumulative and in addition to any other 
remedies available at law or in equity.

8.40.150 Additional provisions
A. Disclaimer. In adopting and implementing this chapter, the City is assuming an 

undertaking only to promote the general welfare. The City is not assuming or imposing 
on its officers and/or employees an obligation by which they could be liable in money 
damages to any Person or Entity who claims that a breach proximately caused injury.

B. Conflict with State or Federal Law. This chapter shall be construed so as not to conflict 
with applicable federal, State, and/or Santa Cruz County laws, rules or regulations. 
Nothing in this chapter shall authorize any City agency or Department to impose any 
duties or obligations in conflict with limitations on municipal authority established by state 
or federal law at the time such agency or Department action is taken. The City shall 

10.C

Packet Pg. 133



Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal 
August 25, 2016

suspend enforcement of this chapter to the extent that said enforcement would conflict 
with any preemptive State or federal legislation subsequently adopted. 

C. Severability. If any of the provisions of this chapter or the application thereof to any 
Person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of those provisions, including the 
application of such part or provisions to Persons or circumstances other than those to 
which it is held invalid shall not be affected thereby and shall continue in full force and 
effect. To this end, the provisions of this chapter are severable.

D. Nothing in this chapter, or the Product Stewardship Program in which Producers of 
Sharps and Covered Drug products who sell Sharps and/or Covered Drugs in the are 
required to participate, is intended to protect anticompetitive or collusive conduct nor 
shall this chapter be construed to modify, impair, or supersede the operation of any of 
the antitrust laws or unfair competition laws of the State of California or of the United 
States.

E. This chapter shall be construed in accordance with California state law, including but not 
limited to the Medical Waste Management Act set forth at California Health and Safety 
Code Section 117600, et seq., and shall not be construed in a way that would result in 
conflict with, or preemption by, any such state law.

F. Environmental Findings. This chapter is entitled to a categorical exemption of the 
California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to 14 California Code of 
Regulations sections 15307, which exempts "actions taken by regulatory agencies, as 
authorized by state or local ordinance, to assure the maintenance, restoration, 
enhancement, or protection of the environment where the regulatory process involves 
procedures for protection.”

G. This chapter shall be in effect for a period of ten (10) years following enactment.

SECTION II

   This Ordinance shall take effect on the 31st day after the date of final passage.

This ordinance was introduced on the 25th day of August, 2016, and was passed and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the ________ day of _____________________, 
2016, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

APPROVED:  _____________________
Ed Bottorff, Mayor 

Attest:  
_________________________, CMC
      Susan Sneddon, City Clerk

10.C

Packet Pg. 134


	Agenda Packet
	CLOSED SESSION
	EXISTING LITIGATION
	LIABILITY CLAIMS

	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. Introduction of New Maintenance Worker
	Printout: Introduction of New Maintenance Worker

	B. Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation
	Printout: Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation
	1. Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation

	C. Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council Presentation
	Printout: Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council Presentation


	3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
	4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	6. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS
	8. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS
	A. Traffic & Parking Appointment
	Printout: Traffic & Parking Appointment
	1. Recruitment Notice
	2. Applications
	3. Traffic & Parking Commission Current Roster


	9. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Approval of City Council Minutes
	Printout: Approval of City Council Minutes
	1. July 28, 2016, Regular City Council Draft Minutes

	B. Planning Commission Action Minutes 8/4/16
	Printout: Planning Commission Action Minutes 8/4/16
	1. Planning Commission Action Minutes August 4, 2016

	C. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 07-01-16 City Check Register
	2. 07-08-16 City Check Register
	3. 07-15-16 City Check Register
	4. 07-22-16 City Check Register
	5. 07-29-16 City Check Register

	D. Liability Claim
	Printout: Liability Claim

	E. CMFA Approval for Goodwill
	Printout: CMFA Approval for Goodwill
	1. CMFA JPA Agreement - City of Capitola


	10. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. 2016 Santa Cruz County Grand Jury Final Report
	Printout: 2016 Santa Cruz County Grand Jury Final Report
	1. Capitola Response
	2. Grand Jury Report on the Capitola Police Complaint
	3. Capitola Data

	B. Community Grants
	Printout: Community Grants
	1. Fiscal Year 2016-2018 Subcommittee Recommendations

	C. Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal
	Printout: Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal


	11. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	2.A · Introduction of New Maintenance Worker
	2.B · Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation
	2.B.1 · Childhood Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation

	2.C · Santa Cruz County Conference and Visitors Council Presentation
	8.A · Traffic & Parking Appointment
	8.A.1 · Recruitment Notice
	8.A.2 · Applications
	8.A.3 · Traffic & Parking Commission Current Roster

	9.A · Approval of City Council Minutes
	9.A.1 · July 28, 2016, Regular City Council Draft Minutes

	9.B · Planning Commission Action Minutes 8/4/16
	9.B.1 · Planning Commission Action Minutes August 4, 2016

	9.C · Approval of City Check Registers
	9.C.1 · 07-01-16 City Check Register
	9.C.2 · 07-08-16 City Check Register
	9.C.3 · 07-15-16 City Check Register
	9.C.4 · 07-22-16 City Check Register
	9.C.5 · 07-29-16 City Check Register

	9.D · Liability Claim
	9.E · CMFA Approval for Goodwill
	9.E.1 · CMFA JPA Agreement - City of Capitola

	10.A · 2016 Santa Cruz County Grand Jury Final Report
	10.A.1 · Capitola Response
	10.A.2 · Grand Jury Report on the Capitola Police Complaint
	10.A.3 · Capitola Data

	10.B · Community Grants
	10.B.1 · Fiscal Year 2016-2018 Subcommittee Recommendations

	10.C · Introduction of an Ordinance regarding Medicine and Sharps Disposal


